

University of Nebraska at Omaha DigitalCommons@UNO

Health and Kinesiology Theses, Dissertations, and Student Creative Activity

School of Health and Kinesiology

5-2023

SCHOOL STRUCTURE DIFFERENCES AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY OF YOUTH: A CASE STUDY OF FOUR RURAL COMMUNITIES

Jillian L. Kilty University of Nebraska at Omaha, jkilty@unomaha.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.unomaha.edu/hperstudent

Part of the Kinesiology Commons, and the Medicine and Health Sciences Commons Please take our feedback survey at: https://unomaha.az1.qualtrics.com/jfe/form/ SV_8cchtFmpDyGfBLE

Recommended Citation

Kilty, Jillian L., "SCHOOL STRUCTURE DIFFERENCES AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY OF YOUTH: A CASE STUDY OF FOUR RURAL COMMUNITIES" (2023). *Health and Kinesiology Theses, Dissertations, and Student Creative Activity.* 1.

https://digitalcommons.unomaha.edu/hperstudent/1

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the School of Health and Kinesiology at DigitalCommons@UNO. It has been accepted for inclusion in Health and Kinesiology Theses, Dissertations, and Student Creative Activity by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@UNO. For more information, please contact unodigitalcommons@unomaha.edu.



SCHOOL STRUCTURE DIFFERENCES AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY OF YOUTH: A CASE STUDY OF FOUR RURAL COMMUNITIES

A thesis

Presented to the

School of Health and Kinesiology

and the

Faculty of the Graduate College

University of Nebraska

In Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree

Masters of Science

University of Nebraska at Omaha

by

Jillian L. Kilty

May 2023

Supervisory Committee:

Dr. Michaela A. Schenkelberg

Dr. Danae M. Dinkel

Dr. Marisa Rosen

SCHOOL STRUCTURE DIFFERENCES AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY OF YOUTH: A CASE STUDY OF FOUR RURAL COMMUNITIES

Jillian L. Kilty, MS

University of Nebraska, 2023

Advisor: Dr. Michaela A. Schenkelberg

Purpose: To describe youth physical activity (PA) and participation in organized activities within school systems adopting different organizational structures.

Design: Cross-sectional case-study of the Wellscapes Project with baseline data from

Wave 1 (Fall 2018) and Wave 2 (Fall 2021).

Setting: Four rural Midwestern communities.

Sample: A total of 507 fourth, fifth, and sixth graders participated and were used in analyses (n = 156 fourth graders; n = 189 fifth graders; n = 162 sixth graders). Two communities followed an elementary school model. The other two communities followed a middle school model.

Measures: Students completed the Youth Activity Profile (YAP), an online 15-item selfreport PA questionnaire. Organized activity participation was determined using supplemental National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) survey questions. School administrators provided session amount and duration of physical education (PE) and recess per week for each grade. **Analysis:** In-school YAP items were aggregated to estimate in-school moderate-tovigorous physical activity (MVPA) using calibrated algorithms. Administrator-reported PE and recess sessions and duration were summarized. Community and grade, and the interaction between the two on in-school MVPA outcomes and participation ("yes", "no") in each organized activity was analyzed using the GLIMMIX procedure. Gender and race/ethnicity were included as covariates.

Results: Session and duration of PE and recess was the same regardless of grade in an elementary model but differed across grade in a middle school model. Sixth graders had a lower frequency of reporting participation in classroom breaks compared to 5th grade across all communities. Regardless of grade, Community 1 reported the highest in-school MVPA (p<0.0001), and Community 3 reported the lowest levels of in-school MVPA (p<0.0001). After-school program, sport, club, and other organized activity participation varied within and between communities.

Conclusion: Among youth attending different school models, differences in organizational structures were present, in-school MVPA was higher for students in an elementary model, and organized activity participation varied by community and grade. Researching these differences with a larger sample size may aid in better understanding the influence of school structure on PA during childhood and adolescence.

Copyright 2023, Jillian L. Kilty

Acknowledgements

Words cannot express my gratitude to the chair of my committee, professor, and mentor Michaela A. Schenkelberg. I am deeply grateful for her invaluable guidance, feedback, patience, and support. Her willingness to hop on Zoom, even on the weekends, to discuss edits and clarify questions as well as the late nights she spent reviewing my writing and providing me feedback were above and beyond what I ever expected. Thank you for encouraging and believing in me throughout this process.

I would also like to extend my gratitude to the other members of my thesis committee, including my advisor and professor Dr. Danae M. Dinkel, and Dr. Marisa Rosen at UNMC. I could not have undertaken this journey without their generous knowledge, recommendations, and expertise. Dr Dinkel, I also want to thank you for nominating me for the Regents Tuition Waiver. This scholarship provided me piece of mind in pursuing my degree while working full time. Without it, completing a thesis would have been significantly less attainable. For this, I am grateful.

Additionally, this endeavor would not have been possible without the help of Ann Essay, PhD student on the research team, running my statistical analyses. Her efficiency in providing data reports and timely responses to my questions allowed me to continue to work seamlessly. Thank you for your kindness and willingness to help.

I would also like to thank my future father in-law Dr. David Dzewaltowski for being gracious enough to provide me access to his data. I most likely would not have been able to pursue the route of completing a thesis without this. Lastly, I would be remiss in not mentioning my family. Their encouraging words and support have kept my spirits and motivation high during this process. I am especially thankful for the support of my fiancé, Alex Dzewaltowski. For the days I worked nonstop, sun-up to sun-down, for all the frustration and tears shed, I am humbled and grateful for his understanding and grace. I am not sure I would have made it through without our frequent Mexican food outings, all the chores around the house you helped me with, and your willingness to answer my endless barrage of questions, even when you didn't know the answer or thought I already should. Thank you for being my number one cheerleader throughout this entire process.

Grant Acknowledgement

Research reported in this paper was supported by the National Cancer Institute of the National Institutes of Health under Award Number R01CA215420. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgementsii
Grant Acknowledgementiv
Table of Contentsv
Table of Figures/Tablesvi
CHAPTER I1
Introduction1
Definitions and Key Abbreviations6
CHAPTER II9
Review of Literature9
Physical Activity9
Physical Activity in Rural Areas10
Physical Activity Decline from Childhood to Adolescence11
Maturation14
Organizational Structures17
Structure of People: Students and Teachers19
Structure of Time: Organization of the School Day21
Physical Education22
Recess24
Organized Activities25
Additional Opportunities27
Gap in Organizational Structures Research
Summary

CHAPTER III	
Methods	
Setting	
Participants	
Procedures	
Measures	
Data Analysis	
CHAPTER IV	40
Manuscript	40
FIGURES/TABLES	
References	

vi

Table of Figures/Tables

Table 1. Demographic Characteristics for Community YAP Responses	58
Table 2. Participation in Organized Activities Out-of-School in the Last Month by	
Education Model, Community, and Grade	59
Figure 1. Mean daily minutes of in-school moderate to vigorous physical activity	
(MVPA) by grade level, community, and education model	60
Table 3. Likelihood of Participating in Organized Activity by Community and Grade	61

CHAPTER I

Introduction

Regular physical activity (PA) during school-aged years is associated with numerous health benefits for youth (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2018), with evidence showing that PA patterns follow young people into adulthood (Hayes et al., 2019; Telama, 2009; Telama et al., 2005). The 2018 Physical Activity Guidelines recommend daily participation in 60 minutes or more of moderate to vigorous physical activity (MVPA) for children ages 6 to 17 (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2018). Additionally, the National Association for Sport and Physical Education (NASPE) (2012) suggests that elementary students receive 150 minutes of physical education (PE) every week for the entire school year while middle school and high school students receive 225 minutes every week for the full length of the school year. NASPE (2006) also recommends a minimum of 20 minutes of recess per day in conjunction with PE. In addition to PE and recess, regular breaks from sedentary time in the classroom are considered a necessity (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018; Institute of Medicine et al., 2013). Despite the recommendations and benefits of PA presented in research, only around 24% of children participate in the recommended guidelines of at least 60 minutes of MVPA per day (National Physical Activity Plan Alliance, 2018).

Research has suggested that one barrier to obtaining the recommended guidelines of physical activity are differences in living areas (i.e., rural vs. urban) (Wilcox et al., 2000). Living areas can impact an individual's eating habits, opportunities for physical activity, and access to recreational facilities (Chillón et al., 2011). Despite their importance, geographical factors have received less attention throughout research (Joens-Matre et al., 2008). Furthermore, issues affecting rural populations have not been examined extensively (Patterson et al., 2004). Research lacks sufficient details and information pertaining to rural communities' and rural minorities' physical activity (Flegal et al., 2010; Ludwig et al., 1999; Mokdad et al., 1999, 2001; Schoenborn et al., 2002). Obtaining precise population-level data on physical activity is crucial, particularly for minorities and individuals residing in rural areas, as they may be at a higher risk of chronic disease (Patterson et al., 2004). This is especially vital for rural youth since PA behaviors present in adulthood tend to stem from those exhibited in adolescence (Hayes et al., 2019; Telama, 2009; Telama et al., 2005). Moreover, existing research on PA levels of youth in rural locations is inconsistent (Davy et al., 2004; Felton et al., 2002; Hedley et al., 2004; Joens-Matre et al., 2008; McMurray et al., 1999, 2000; Paxton et al., 2004).

One way to address this inconsistency is through implementation of PA initiatives (Institute of Medicine et al., 2013; World Health Organization, 2008). The years between 6 and 14 mark a time of important developmental milestones (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2021b; J. S. Eccles, 1999). Not only are youth working toward self-awareness, competency, and independence during this time, they are going through major cognitive and biological changes that impact their minds and bodies (J. S. Eccles, 1999). Encouraging and increasing participation in PA during this time period is advantageous since PA provides significant health benefits (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2018), including: physiological (e.g., improved fitness and reduced obesity, type II diabetes, blood pressure, and cardiovascular disease) (Janssen & LeBlanc, 2010), and psychological (e.g., increased self-confidence and self-esteem, and reduced stress, anxiety, and depression) (Lubans et al., 2016). Research has also shown improved cognition, meta-cognition, attentiveness, and scholastic achievement due to participation in PA (Álvarez-Bueno et al., 2017). Since enrollment in school systems is nearly universal (Nathan et al., 2018) and young people spend more than 40% of their awake time at school (Fox, 2004; Institute of Medicine et al., 2013), schools are recommended settings to increase youth PA (Institute of Medicine et al., 2013; World Health Organization, 2008). Furthermore, schools tend to be a "central hub" in many communities due to the considerable amount of time young people spend there during the day and the availability of facilities, recreational activities, and events for families and peer groups both before and after school (Webster, 2022), making them prime locations to promote PA.

Specifically examining the transition from childhood into adolescence is critical since research also reveals a decrease in PA levels as grade level increases (Allison et al., 2007; Corder et al., 2019; Nader et al., 2008; Wickel et al., 2009). The school environment and the way it is structured can have a significant impact on what a student can accomplish during the school day (Cleveland, 2016). Understanding variations in the structural differences between elementary school and middle school, and the impact they have on the PA of young people as they transition between the two types of schools is important in order to inform interventions and ensure youth receive the recommended amount of PA as they grow older (Barnett et al., 2006). The way in which a school is structured can be described in terms of "organizational structures" (Ellerbrock et

al., 2018). These structures include the structure of place (i.e., types of school), the structure of people (i.e., students, teachers), and the structure of time (i.e., organization of school day) (Ellerbrock et al., 2018). PA opportunities resulting from these structures can standardize PA within school systems (Ellerbrock et al., 2018; Webster, 2022). According to the Comprehensive School Physical Activity Program (CSPAP), these PA opportunities emerge through the implementation of five components: physical education, PA during school (i.e., recess, lunch, PA in the classroom, and special events like field day), PA before and after school (i.e., before and after school PA programs through the school or community organizations, active transportation programs to and from school), staff involvement (i.e., activity levels of teachers and staff, promotion of PA, and participation in PA with students), and family and community engagement (i.e., encouragement and participation from family members, access to neighborhood recreational spaces and equipment, availability of public transportation and safety of communities) (Webster, 2022). These structures which promote and increase PA are crucial because they support child development, facilitate opportunities for risk-taking, allow time to practice social skills, and have been shown to improve young people's attention, boost social and emotional outcomes, and positively impact academic performance (Webster, 2022). Despite the evidence suggesting the importance of PA within schools, there is a gap in our understanding of the organizational structures in elementary school compared to middle school, and the role these differences play on young peoples' PA levels (Barnett et al., 2006; Harding et al., 2015; Lau et al., 2017; Pate, Schenkelberg, et al., 2019; Webster, 2022).

The purpose of this case study is to describe population children and youth PA levels and participation in organized activities within four rural community's school systems which adopt two different organizational structures. Two communities follow a middle school model while the other two communities follow an elementary school model.

We hypothesize that:

 Young people attending a school in a community following a middle school model will have lower levels of PA and participate in fewer organized activities compared to young people attending a school in a community following an elementary school model.

Definitions and Key Abbreviations

The following definitions and abbreviations were used for the purposes of this study:

Youth: A person between the ages of 12 and 18 years old (Who Are Youth?, 2022).

Young People: A person under the age of 18 (*Who Are Youth?*, 2022).

Child/Children: A person 6 to 12 years of age (National Library of Medicine, n.d.-b).

Adolescent(s): A person 13 to 18 years of age (National Library of Medicine, n.d.-a).

<u>5th Grade</u>: Typically children ages 10 - 11 years old.

<u>6th Grade</u>: Typically children and youth ages 11 - 12 years old.

<u>Physical Activity (PA)</u>: PA is defined as any bodily movement produced by skeletal muscles that results in energy expenditure (Caspersen et al., 1985).

<u>Physical Inactivity</u>: Physical inactivity is defined as a state in which bodily movement is minimal and energy expenditure approximates the resting metabolic rate (Miles, 2007).

<u>Organizational Structures</u>: The way in which schools are structured. This includes the structures of place (i.e., types of school), the structures of people (i.e., students, teachers), and the structures of time (i.e., organization of school day) (Ellerbrock et al., 2018)

Elementary School Model: A school that follows a self-contained classroom structure.

Middle School Model: A school that follows a departmentalized classroom structure.

<u>Self-Contained</u>: A school structure where children are taught all subjects by one teacher during the school day with the exception of going to specialists teachers (i.e., PE, music, library, art, etc.) (*A Guide to the US Education Levels*, 2022; Lobdell & van Ness, 1963). <u>Departmentalized</u>: A school structure where youth travel from classroom to classroom, being taught different subjects by different teachers throughout the school day (*A Guide to the US Education Levels*, 2022; Lobdell & van Ness, 1963).

<u>In-School Activity</u>: Moderate to vigorous physical activity that occurs during transportation to school, transportation from school, physical education, lunch, and recess (Saint-Maurice & Welk, 2015).

<u>Activity Breaks</u>: Activity breaks, also known as brain breaks or energizers are short bouts of PA meant to interrupt the prolonged sedentary behaviors common to the school day (Dinkel et al., 2017; McMullen et al., 2014).

<u>Organized Activities</u>: Any extracurricular activities that occur outside of school time both before and after school, in the evening, and on weekends (i.e., afterschool programs, youth clubs and sports, 4-H, Girl Scouts, and Boy Scouts) (Vandell et al., 2015).

<u>Adolescence</u>: Adolescence is defined as the maturation of cognitive and social behaviors related to the changes of puberty (Sisk & Foster, 2004).

<u>Maturation</u>: Maturation is defined as the timing and tempo of progress toward the mature biological state; often described as the process of becoming mature (Malina et al., 2004).

<u>Puberty</u>: Puberty is defined as the activation of the reproductive system, resulting in reproductive capabilities (Sisk & Foster, 2004).

Other key abbreviations

<u>MVPA</u>: Moderate to vigorous physical activity

<u>TPA</u>: Total physical activity

<u>LPA</u>: Light physical activity

<u>YAP</u>: Youth Activity Profile

PE: Physical Education

CHAPTER II

Review of Literature

PHYSICAL ACTIVITY

Physical activity (PA) has a significant impact on health. Regular PA impacts body composition and energy balance while also protecting against chronic diseases such as obesity, cardiovascular disease, stroke, type 2 diabetes, and various types of cancers (Miles, 2007; Warburton et al., 2006). Research has also shown an association between PA, improved mental health, and reduced risk of falls and injuries (Miles, 2007). Studies have also found PA to benefit children and youth ages 6 to 17 physiologically (e.g., improved fitness and reduced obesity, type II diabetes, blood pressure, and cardiovascular disease) (Janssen & LeBlanc, 2010), and psychologically (e.g., increased self-confidence and self-esteem, and reduced stress, anxiety, and depression) (Lubans et al., 2016), as well as through improved cognition, meta-cognition, attentiveness, and scholastic achievement (Álvarez-Bueno et al., 2017).

According to Caspersen et al. (1985), physical activity can be defined as "any bodily movement produced by skeletal muscles that results in energy expenditure" (p126) and is commonly categorized by duration, frequency, intensity, and modality (Blair et al., 1992; Miles, 2007). Duration and frequency refer to how long and how often an activity is engaged in, while intensity and modality refer to the energy expenditure level demanded by an activity and the type of activity being performed (Miles, 2007). Despite these known benefits, physical inactivity continues to remain a substantial public health problem (Gichu et al., 2018; Kohl et al., 2012; Miles, 2007; Warburton et al., 2006). In order to combat this population issue, promoting PA from a young age and instilling positive PA patterns is crucial since evidence shows PA patterns established in youth follow individuals into adulthood (Hayes et al., 2019; Telama, 2009; Telama et al., 2005).

PHYSICAL ACTIVITY IN RURAL AREAS

Research has suggested that one barrier to obtaining the recommended guidelines of physical activity are differences in living areas (e.g., rural and urban) (Wilcox et al., 2000). Living areas can impact an individual's eating habits, opportunities for physical activity, and access to recreational facilities (Chillón et al., 2011). Despite their importance, geographical factors have received less attention throughout research (Joens-Matre et al., 2008). Furthermore, issues affecting rural populations have not been examined extensively (Patterson et al., 2004). Research lacks sufficient details and information pertaining to rural communities' and rural minorities' physical activity (Flegal et al., 2010; Ludwig et al., 1999; Mokdad et al., 1999, 2001; Schoenborn et al., 2002). Obtaining precise population-level data on physical activity is crucial, particularly for minorities and individuals residing in rural areas, as they may be at a higher risk of chronic disease (Patterson et al., 2004). This is especially vital for rural youth, given the inconsistent results reported in literature on their physical activity levels (Davy et al., 2004; Felton et al., 2002; Hedley et al., 2004; Joens-Matre et al., 2008; Lutfiyya et al., 2007; Paxton et al., 2004; Springer et al., 2006).

One study conducted on young individuals from rural areas in Mississippi found that 54% of the sample were either at risk for being overweight or overweight (Davy et al., 2004). This percentage was quite a bit higher than the national youth percentage (30%) of at-risk and overweight youth (Hedley et al., 2004). Youth in this study also

reported lower levels of PA compared to a national sample, however, the geographic locations in the national sample were not specified (Davy et al., 2004). Similarly, rural youth in a Midwest study were less physically active than urban youth, as compared to a national sample (Paxton et al., 2004). Overweight children aged 5 to 18 years old in rural locations were also less likely to meet the recommended PA guidelines compared to overweight urban children (Lutfiyya et al., 2007). However, another study examining activity levels of middle school girls in South Carolina in both rural and urban areas found differences in activity levels by geographical location depending upon race (Felton et al., 2002). White girls in urban areas were more vigorously active compared to those in rural areas, while Black girls in rural areas were more vigorously active than those in urban areas (Felton et al., 2002). In contrast, Springer et al. (2006) analyzed a nationally representative sample of urban and rural young people's activity levels. Rural males were more likely to participate in strength training and MVPA compared to urban males while rural females were more likely than urban females to participate in at least one sport (Springer et al., 2006). A study by Liu et al. (2008) also found that among rural and urban children aged 10 to 17 years, urban children had higher levels of physical inactivity (29.1%) compared to rural children (25.5%). Younger, rural males (aged 10 to 14 years) were actually less likely to be physically inactive comparatively (J. Liu et al., 2008), potentially highlighting not only the impact of geographical region, but also age.

PHYSICAL ACTIVITY DECLINE FROM CHILDHOOD TO ADOLESENCE

The 2018 Physical Activity Guidelines recommend daily participation in 60 minutes or more of moderate to vigorous physical activity (MVPA) for children ages 6 to 17 (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2018). Additionally, the National

Association for Sport and Physical Education (NASPE) (2012) suggests that elementary students receive 150 minutes of physical education (PE) every week for the full length of the school year while middle school and high school students receive 225 minutes every week for the entire school year. NASPE (2006) also recommends a minimum of 20 minutes of recess per day in conjunction with PE. In addition to PE and recess, regular activity breaks from sedentary time in the classroom are considered a necessity (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018; Institute of Medicine et al., 2013). Despite the recommendations, a majority of U.S. children and adolescents aged 6 to 17 years old are not meeting the guidelines (Institute of Medicine et al., 2013; Janssen & LeBlanc, 2010; National Physical Activity Plan Alliance, 2018). In fact, recent data revealed that only around 24% of children participate in the recommended guidelines of at least 60 minutes of MVPA per day (National Physical Activity Plan Alliance, 2018).

This is a compounding issue since PA levels and intensity often decrease as grade level increases (Allison et al., 2007; Corder et al., 2019; Institute of Medicine et al., 2013; Nader et al., 2008; Wickel et al., 2009). Emerging research from Pate, Saunders, et al. (2022) observed an overall decrease in PA levels between the ages 10 and 17 years at a rate of 1.76 minutes per hour per year of observation. However, in another study conducted by Pate, Schenkelberg, et al. (2019) one group of youth (Group 1) being followed from 5th to 11th grade did not show any change in PA from ages 10 to 14 years and increased in PA from ages 14 to 16 years. This was not observed in the other two groups though, where both groups decreased in PA levels at approximately two minutes per hour or 20 to 24 minutes per day over the observational period (Pate, Schenkelberg, et al., 2019). The discrepancy observed in Group 1 should be interpreted cautiously,

given the subset of participants (4% of the entire sample) were predominately male, less physically mature, and had the lowest mean BMI compared to the other two groups (Pate, Schenkelberg, et al., 2019). Lau et al. (2017) found similar patterns of total physical activity (TPA) and MVPA decline in youth transitioning from elementary school (5th grade) to middle school (6th grade) and then into 7th grade, with the steepest decline occurring from 5th to 6th grade. Another study examining students' PA from ages 10 to 14 years at varying time-segments (e.g., weekdays vs weekends, in-school vs out-of-school, out-of-school vs weekends, and lesson-time vs lunch time) found MVPA and TPA to decrease over time for all time-segments, except during lesson times (Brooke et al., 2016). This lack of change during lesson time however was attributed to students being required to remain seated (Brooke et al., 2016).

Similarly, a study by Rutten et al. (2014) tracking 6th graders in elementary school as they moved into middle school and progressed to 8th grade using pedometers found an overall increase in sedentary behavior (SB), but no change in step count. Even though step count remained the same during the transition from elementary to middle school, self-reported MVPA decreased over the years, indicating that the type, amount, and intensity of PA available in middle school may be different from elementary school (Rutten et al., 2014). Additionally, Harding et al. (2015) observed the PA of adolescents ages 12 to 15 years as they transitioned through middle school and high school. During this time, there were significant increases in the proportion of time spent sedentary during school, after-school, and on weekends as well as a significant decline in light physical activity (LPA) across all areas and in MVPA during school hours (Harding et al., 2015). Another study that observed upper elementary students and secondary students' PA with

accelerometers resulted in overall lower in-school PA compared to out-of-school PA for secondary students, with a significantly lower level of PA at the primary to secondary school transition period (Gidlow et al., 2008). Gidlow et al. (2008) mentions homework pressures, instances of embarrassment, self-consciousness, and the onset of puberty being potential reasons behind this drop in activity during the transition from elementary to middle school. However, the data from the study did suggest that adolescence may be compensating for the lack of in-school physical activity with out-of-school activities (Gidlow et al., 2008). Not only do these results point to the importance of participation in organized activities outside of school, but it also provides evidence that the changes children experience when moving into adolescence may play a role in their PA levels (Gidlow et al., 2008).

MATURATION

For many students, the transition from elementary school to middle school elicits a host of concerns, emotions, and behaviors (Arowosafe & Irvin, 1992) and typically occurs during the start of their developmental period or puberty and maturation (Anzilotti, 2022; Goldstein et al., 2015). The years between 6 and 14 mark a time of important developmental milestones (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2021b; J. S. Eccles, 1999). Not only are youth working toward self-awareness, competency, and independence during this time, they are going through major cognitive and biological changes that impact their minds and bodies (J. S. Eccles, 1999). This time of adolescence is characterized by social, behavioral, psychological, and physiological changes (Holder & Blaustein, 2014; Sherar et al., 2010) and is defined as the maturation of cognitive and social behaviors related to the changes of puberty (Sisk & Foster, 2004). According Sisk & Foster (2004), puberty is the activation of the reproductive system, resulting in reproductive capabilities, while the timing and tempo of progress toward the mature biological state, often described as the process of becoming mature, is referred to as maturation (Malina et al., 2004).

Different timing of puberty and maturation in youth may be related to the decline in PA (Sherar et al., 2010). A study following the PA patterns and psychological wellbeing of U.S. girls at ages 11 and 13 found early maturation at age 11 led to lower psychological health at age 13, which in turn resulted in lower levels of MVPA and decreased enjoyment of PA (Davison et al., 2007). Similarly, a study conducted by Pate, Dowda, et al. (2022) observing maturation and PA of girls as they transition from 5th to 7th grade, found that girls who matured earlier had lower levels of PA compared to girls who matured later at each grade level. However, this study also found lower levels of self-efficacy, enjoyment motivation, and competence motivation in girls who matured later (Pate, Dowda, et al., 2022). Both findings suggest the importance of providing different PA opportunities that are fun, social, and increase self-confidence during this time frame (Pate, Dowda, et al., 2022). In addition, a study conducted by Murdey et al. (2004) stated that boys and girls ages 10 to 17 years old progressing through puberty reported greater amounts of SB as puberty status increased. A study observing female British students from 7th to 9th grade found peer acceptance of maturation to impact PA levels (Pindus et al., 2014). Girls who matured early and on time reported greater participation in PA when they had higher perceptions of acceptance from peers compared to those who perceived less peer acceptance (Pindus et al., 2014). Another study examining British youth aged 13 and 14 found that chronological age was less associated

with PA levels compared to biological maturity, which may explain why boys are more likely to participate in PA than girls of the same age at certain time periods in adolescence (Cumming et al., 2009).

Contrary to these findings, Sherar et al. (2007) examined the PA and biological maturity of Canadian girls and boys 8 to 13 years of age and found that levels of PA among both sexes decreased as age and maturity increased. Similarly, another study assessing the PA levels and barriers to PA among adolescent girls 8 to 15 years old by grade level and maturity, observed a decrease in PA as grade level increased and found barriers to PA more closely related to grade level (Sherar et al., 2009), suggesting that grade level environment may also play a role in PA patterns. Biological maturity was discovered to have no impact on PA in this study (Pindus et al., 2014). Another study provides evidence that the transition period from elementary school to middle school could have an impact on students' PA through the findings of declined grade point average, class preparation, and self-esteem (Seidman et al., 1994) since research has shown that early maturing girls and late maturing boys with low self-esteem tend to participate in lower amounts of PA (Sherar et al., 2010). This idea is supported by the claim that participation in PA is closely related to improved anxiety/stress, self-concept, depressive symptoms, and self-esteem (Calfas & Taylor, 1994).

As previously mentioned, a noticeable decline in PA during adolescence is prominent (Allison et al., 2007; Cumming et al., 2009; Janssen & LeBlanc, 2010; Nader et al., 2008; National Physical Activity Plan Alliance, 2018; Wickel et al., 2009). Disengagement from PA during adolescence is likely associated with the interaction of maturation, puberty, and a variety of social, behavioral, environmental, and biological factors (Sherar et al., 2010). Since youth PA patterns established in adolescence tend to continue into adulthood (Hayes et al., 2019; Telama, 2009; Telama et al., 2005) and provide the highest likelihood of decreased mortality and increased longevity (Hills et al., 2007), it is imperative that interventions tailored to youths' specific needs are implemented to foster strong PA patterns during adolescence.

ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURES

Given that attendance to school is nearly universal (Nathan et al., 2018) and young people spend roughly half of their daytime hours at school (Fox, 2004; Institute of Medicine et al., 2013), schools are recommended settings to increase youth PA through the implementation of PA initiatives (Institute of Medicine et al., 2013; World Health Organization, 2008). In addition, schools are considered "central hubs" for families and peer groups in many communities (Webster, 2022), making them an ideal location for physical activity promotion both before and after school. Research notes that school and/or grade structure can influence adolescents' behaviors (Sherar et al., 2010), and environments that are not adapted to adolescents' needs can eventually cause them to lose self-confidence and spiral into poor behavior patterns (J. S. Eccles, 1999). Similarly, Cleveland (2016) claimed that one's abilities (i.e., engagement, learning, and movement) within a school environment are hugely impacted by the school's structures which includes the built environment. Research has also shown student's PA to be linked to the social environment (Button et al., 2013). This study conducted by Button et al. (2013) found that a higher social capital score which refers to the social connections between people was associated with higher levels of MVPA in students. The way in which a school's environment is built and its social dynamics can impact students' academics,

social abilities, psychological well-being, engagement and willingness to participate, sense of belonging and ownership of learning, and ability to move during the school day (Cleveland, 2016; Kirby et al., 2013). Understanding the structural differences between primary and secondary school, and the impact these differences have on youth PA is important since a school's built and social environment can impact the access to PA opportunities (Institute of Medicine et al., 2013; Kirby et al., 2013).

According to Ellerbrock et al. (2018), the way in which a school is structured can be referred to as "organizational structures". These structures include the structures of place (i.e., types of school), the structures of people (i.e., students, teachers), and the structures of time (i.e., organization of school day) (Ellerbrock et al., 2018). Within these organizational structures, PA opportunities emerge through the implementation of five components: physical education, PA during school (i.e., recess, lunch, PA in the classroom, and special events like field day), PA before and after school (i.e., before and after school PA programs through the school or community organizations, active transportation programs to and from school), staff involvement (i.e., activity levels of teachers and staff, promotion of PA, and participation in PA with students), and family and community engagement (i.e., encouragement and participation from family members, access to neighborhood recreational spaces and equipment, availability of public transportation and safety of communities) (Webster, 2022). A breakdown of the three organizational structures can be seen in figure 1. For the sake of this paper, the structure of people and the structure of time will be analyzed, focusing specifically on the differences in PE, PA during school, and PA before and after school in schools following elementary and middle school models.

Figure 1

Types of Organizational Structures and the Components Within Each One



Structure of People: Students and Teachers

Schools in the United States are organized into elementary school (primary), middle school (intermediate), and high school (secondary) (*Organization of U.S. Education: The School Level*, 2008). Depending upon state and district policy, elementary education typically ranges from kindergarten to fifth grade while middle school ranges from sixth to eighth grade (*A Guide to the US Education Levels*, 2022). In both elementary school and middle school, age-based grade levels are used to group children and adolescents (*Why Do We Separate School Kids by Age Groups?*, 2018). Students are sometimes split up by their learning level in middle school (*A Guide to the US Education Levels*, 2022). During primary education, children tend to attend schools following an elementary school model of teaching (*A Guide to the US Education Levels*, 2022; Lobdell & van Ness, 1963). This model involves organizing students into selfcontained classrooms where they learn all subjects from one teacher throughout the school day (*A Guide to the US Education Levels*, 2022; Lobdell & van Ness, 1963). Schools following an elementary school model with self-contained classrooms typically have specialist teachers who teach subjects such as music, art, and physical education in their own classrooms as well (Lobdell & van Ness, 1963). Conversely, the majority of middle schools follow a middle school model in which subjects are departmentalized (*A Guide to the US Education Levels*, 2022; Lobdell & van Ness, 1963). A departmentalized structure means youth travel from classroom to classroom, being taught different subjects by different teachers throughout the school day (*A Guide to the US Education Levels*, 2022; Lobdell & van Ness, 1963).

According to a systematic review by Rickwood (2013), there is a positive correlation between the presence of positive adult and peer role models at school and increased PA of young people during the school day. Even though there are an increased number of adult interactions from changing classrooms within a middle school model of teaching, young people transitioning into middle school tend to report more positive associations with peers and report fewer positive associations with adults compared to elementary children (Lynch & Cicchetti, 1997). According to the book *Yardsticks: Children in the Classroom, Ages 4 – 14* (2015), children in 5th grade need adult empathy and humor. The book states they also enjoy adult recognition while youth in 6th grade care more about peer opinions than teacher opinions, and are more willing to accept help from adults other than their teachers and parents (Wood, 2015). Additionally, compared to students in a departmentalized school setting (i.e., middle school model), students in a self-contained setting (i.e., elementary school model) have a longer length of time to form

positive relationships with peers and adults (Hamalainen, 1958). These positive relationships can lead to effective role modeling and peer support which is associated with participation in PA (Efrat, 2009). Another study analyzing PA promoting practices between elementary and middle school teachers found that teachers who participated in higher levels of MVPA without obesity were more likely to promote PA (Pulling Kuhn et al., 2021). Pulling Kuhn et al. (2021) also observed these practices to be more regularly implemented in elementary schools compared to middle schools. Overall, this suggests that the organizational structure of people may play a role in young peoples' PA levels as they transition into middle school.

Structure of Time: Organization of the School Day

Not only can peer and adult relationships play a role in young peoples' PA, the organization of the school day can also provide the opportunity for participation in PA such as recess, physical education, classroom PA, access to fixed and portable equipment during lunch (e.g., playgrounds, basketball hoops, balls, hula hoops), and extracurricular sports (Wechsler et al., 2000). Ample research has shown a decline in PA as young people transition from elementary to middle school (Allison & Adlaf, 2000; Barnett et al., 2006; Brooke et al., 2016; Gidlow et al., 2008; Harding et al., 2015; Institute of Medicine et al., 2013; Lau et al., 2017; Pate, Dowda, et al., 2019; Pate, Saunders, et al., 2022; Pate, Schenkelberg, et al., 2019; Rutten et al., 2014). However, research provides limited findings on how the difference in structures of time (e.g., number of sessions and length of both PE and recess, classroom structure and activity breaks, PA opportunities during lunch, and availability of organized activities) between elementary school models of teaching and middle school models of teaching impact the decline in PA levels (Allison

& Adlaf, 2000; Barnett et al., 2006; Brooke et al., 2016; Gidlow et al., 2008; Harding et al., 2015; Institute of Medicine et al., 2013; Lau et al., 2017; Pate, Saunders, et al., 2022; Rutten et al., 2014).

Physical education.

PE structured within the school day promotes and provides students with the opportunity to participate in PA (Tompkins et al., 2004). Daily PE is recommended for students kindergarten through 12th grade by the National Association for Sports and Physical Education (National Association for Sport and Physical Education, 2023). However, research shows a drop in student participation and a drop in the amount of PE offered from elementary school to middle school (Kolbe et al., 2001; Tompkins et al., 2004). According to the 2000 School Health Policies and Programs Study (SHPPS) about half of schools required PE in 1st through 5th grade while only 25% required PE in 8th grade, with a majority of schools not providing PE for the entire school year for all grade levels (Kolbe et al., 2001). Kolbe et al. (2001) also notes that schools with reduced amounts of PE observed a decrease in PA levels across grade levels. According to the most recent SHPPS, the percentage of schools requiring PE to be taught decreased from elementary (92.6%) to middle (89.7%) as well as the percentage of schools having specified time requirements for PE (i.e., elementary, 73.5%; middle, 70.5%) (SHPPS: *Results from the School Health Policies and Practices Study*, 2016).

According to one study observing opportunities and participation in PE and intramurals in Ontario elementary and secondary schools, grades 1-8 received on average just below three sessions of PE a week with duration of PE class and intensity of PA increasing with grade level (Allison & Adlaf, 2000). While duration and intensity did increase, the study noted that the levels of PA students received were still either just at or approaching the recommended guidelines (Allison & Adlaf, 2000). Additionally, Allison and Adlaf (2000) found that even though PE was offered at 98% of secondary schools, enrollment in PE decreased substantially as grade level increased, potentially being due to the fact that PE is no longer a requirement at higher school levels. Similarly, another study examining student engagement in PA during PE in 24 middle schools observed daily PE providing only around 83 minutes of MVPA per week and 25 minutes of vigorous activity per week which is less than the national guidelines (McKenzie et al., 2000).

Comparatively, Fairclough and Stratton (2006) reviewed existing literature on PE within elementary schools and found that students at the elementary level are also not meeting the recommended amount of engagement time during PE. Unlike middle school though, elementary PE sessions tended to last around 33 minutes with students participating in only around 13 minutes of MVPA per lesson (Fairclough & Stratton, 2006). Fairclough and Stratton (2006) also noticed a trend of increased activity during PE as grade level went up. However, reasoning as to why students were more active as they got older was unclear (Fairclough & Stratton, 2006). Another study looking at PA opportunities before, during, and after school at 227 elementary schools in Montreal found PE classes to range from 30 to 120 minutes a week with only about 20% to 90% of that time spent in motor activity (Barnett et al., 2006). In addition, Barnett et al. (2006) observed that even though the majority of schools offered PE more than once a week, availability decreased as grade level increased. Whether this trend continues into middle

school is unknown since this study was only conducted within elementary schools (Barnett et al., 2006).

Recess.

Another avenue for schools to provide PA to students is recess. Recess allows children unstructured opportunities for PA and play (Wechsler et al., 2000), which is recommended by the CDC's Guidelines for School and Community Programs to Promote Lifelong Physical Activity among Young People (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 1997). However, PA requirements outside of PE decrease considerably in middle school and high school with many secondary schools not even providing recess (Institute of Medicine et al., 2013). Other research has mentioned the difficulty in reviewing play behaviors and PA of middle school students since recess is an "extreme rarity" at the middle school level (Jarrett & Duckett-Hedgebeth, 2003). This is unlike elementary school where the need for movement, play, and socialization is deemed impactful and thus scheduled into the day as recess (Barnett et al., 2006). While data on recess at the intermediate level was not noted, the 2016 SHPPS did find that 31.3% of districts recommended that elementary schools provide regular recess while 64.8% of districts required it (SHPPS: Results from the School Health Policies and Practices Study, 2016). Even though recess tends to be implemented at the elementary level, the number of recess sessions and length of recess period vary by school and by grade level within school (Pellegrini & Smith, 1993). Among the districts that required or recommended recess in the 2016 SHPPS data, there was variation in the number of minutes per day required or recommended among those districts (i.e., 30 or more minutes, 30.2%; 20 to 29 minutes, 35.1%; 10 to 19 minutes, 18.7%; less than 10 minutes,

0.6%; no specified requirement, 15.5%) (*SHPPS: Results from the School Health Policies and Practices Study*, 2016). Additionally, an article in *Childhood Education* that interviewed teachers about recess opportunities for students in their district revealed on average elementary students received 15 to 25 minutes a day while middle school students received none (Blackwell, 2004). Another study found that elementary students attended an average of 1.5 recess periods a day, averaging around 18.3 minutes (Ross et al., 1987). Similarly, a study assessing school-based opportunities for physical activity in elementary, middle, and high schools discovered that 94% of elementary schools reported providing recess daily for roughly 24 minutes per day (Tompkins et al., 2004). Data on this school structure was not available for the intermediate level because the recess questions were omitted from the middle and high school version of the questionnaire in this study (Tompkins et al., 2004).

Organized activities.

Even though kids spend a majority of their day at school, a large portion of PA among young people occurs outside of school (Simons-Morton et al., 1990), making promotion of organized activities such as before-school and after-school programs, youth clubs and sports, Girl Scouts and Boy Scouts, and 4-H essential to increasing children and adolescents PA (Pate et al., 1995). Additionally, organized activities appear to benefit young people in a variety of other ways (e.g., academic performance, social behaviors and relationships, mental health and physical health, and school engagement) (Beighle & Moore, 2012; Y. Liu et al., 2021; Mahoney et al., 2005). These benefits provide youth with the necessary skills to be successful and help to prepare them for the transition into adulthood (Mahoney et al., 2005). A longitudinal study conducted by Liu et al. (2021),
collected data on adolescents' activity and academic skills in 6th grade, 9th grade, and 12th grade. The study found a link between activity intensity and activity quality in 6th and 9th grade and academic performance in 12th grade, suggesting that participation in organized activities at a young age may prepare young people for academic success in middle school and high school (Y. Liu et al., 2021). Another study conducted by Trost et al. (2008) analyzed the PA levels of students in grades 3 – 6 at after-school programs. Overall, after-school programs were found to be a positive contributor to the PA levels of children and youth, with students accumulating an average of 20.3 minutes of MVPA when participating in an after-school program (Trost et al., 2008).

Despite the positive impact organized activities can have on youth, participation in these out-of-school opportunities seem to decline as children move into adolescence (J. Eccles & Gootman, 2002; Mahoney et al., 2005; Shann, 2001). One study that surveyed 1,583 students on how they spend their time on the weekends and after school found that 77.2% did not participate in an after-school program and 86.5% did not participate in lessons of any kind (Shann, 2001). Somewhat similarly, the SHPPS 2016 data showed that 1.2% of districts required PA before school and 25.2% recommended it at the middle school level compared to an increased percentage for both required (2.6%) and recommended (28.6%) PA before school at the elementary level (*SHPPS: Results from the School Health Policies and Practices Study*, 2016). However, the percentage of districts requiring and recommending PA after school was greater at the middle school level compared to the elementary level (*SHPPS: Results from the School Health Policies and Practices Study*, 2016). The type of physical activity districts required or recommended students to participate in is not specified in the SHPPS (*SHPPS: Results* *from the School Health Policies and Practices Study*, 2016). Another study by Leek at el. (2011), reported that a player can reach up to 75 percent of their 60 minutes of recommended PA per day through youth sports practice. However, roughly 80 percent of young people tend to drop out of youth sports by the age of 12 (Leek et al., 2011). Additionally, a study examining extracurricular activity programs at 24 public middle schools found that while all schools offered multiple extracurricular activity programs, participation was incredibly low (Powersm et al., 2002). The decline in organized activity participation as children get older may be due to the following: an increase in skill level that children do not have, a decline in programs for older youth, an increase in membership cost or decrease in membership availability, lower school budgets for before- and after-school programs, programs that are not tailored to adolescents' interests, and an increase in adolescence employment (Mahoney et al., 2005).

Additional opportunities.

Additional opportunities for PA within the school day other than PE and recess should be provided in order for youth to reach the recommended guidelines of PA (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018; Institute of Medicine et al., 2013). According to the Institute of Medicine et al. (2013), activity breaks tend to be regularly implemented in elementary classrooms, but very few, if any, are incorporated into middle school classrooms, which is attributed to the increase in academic demand, time restraints, and lack of age-appropriate activities. Recent SHPPS data reveals that districts require or recommend regular classroom PA breaks in elementary school at a higher percentage than in middle schools (*SHPPS: Results from the School Health Policies and Practices Study*, 2016). Another characteristic that may influence PA is the type of classroom students are in (i.e., self-contained vs departmentalized) (Rutten et al., 2014). In one study, the transition from elementary to middle school resulted in students switching from staying in the same classroom during the school day (i.e., self-contained) to regularly moving from one classroom to the next (i.e., departmentalized), which may have accounted for the similar step count observed between grade levels (Rutten et al., 2014). There is however limited research on the effect the self-contained and departmentalized classroom structures have on youth PA levels. Additionally, Brooke et al. (2016) followed 10-year olds' TPA and MVPA in-school and out-of-school over 5 years witnessing an overall decrease in PA during lunch as grade level increased. Lunch time MVPA and TPA was greater than PA during lesson-time though, which was attributed to students being required to remain seated during lessons even as grade level increased (Brooke et al., 2016). Elementary schools in Montreal also used lunchtime as another opportunity for students to participate in PA with 21% of schools making these extracurricular PA opportunities available during lunch only and 28% offering these activities both during lunch and after school (Barnett et al., 2006). The specific types of extracurricular PA offered were not mentioned (Barnett et al., 2006). Whether these opportunities were also provided in middle schools is unknown (Barnett et al., 2006). The SHPPS 2016 highlights the requirement or recommendation that recess be provided in conjunction with lunch either right before or directly after (SHPPS: Results from the School Health Policies and Practices Study, 2016). Similar to other studies, there was no mention of lunch recess at the middle school level (SHPPS: Results from the School Health Policies and Practices Study, 2016). A study by Tompkins et al. (2004), did find that 64% of middle and junior highs offered free time at lunch which provided the

opportunity for students to be physically active. However, the number of minutes students spent being physically active during that time was not analyzed and thus, further research should examine the amount of PA students are participating in during lunch (Tompkins et al., 2004).

Gap in organizational structures research.

While research notes the decline of PA levels as children transition into adolescence (Allison et al., 2007; Corder et al., 2019; Institute of Medicine et al., 2013; Nader et al., 2008; Wickel et al., 2009), there seems to be a gap in the understanding of the impact that organizational structures have on this decline (Gidlow et al., 2008; Lau et al., 2017; Pate, Schenkelberg, et al., 2019). A study by Lau et al. (2017) found patterns of total PA and MVPA to decline in youth transitioning from elementary school (5th grade) to middle school (6th grade) and then into 7th grade. The steepest decline observed occurred from 5th to 6th grade, suggesting that an overall decrease in PA within the middle school setting may be a contributing factor (Lau et al., 2017). While specific reasons as to why youth PA deceased are not mentioned in the study, Lau et al. (2017) does suggest future research examines what factors contribute to this decrease during the transition from elementary to middle school. Likewise, 91.6% of the sample (100%) preschool, 100% elementary, 79.8% secondary) in a study conducted by Gidlow et al. (2008) met the guidelines of 60 minutes of MVPA each day. The study itself did not investigate what organizational structures differed between elementary school and middle school, but it did state that PE and recess opportunities during the school day can make an impactful contribution and need to be promoted within secondary schools, specifically during the transition from elementary to middle school (Gidlow et al., 2008). Conversely, Pate, Schenkelberg, et al. (2019) observed one out of the three groups of youth (Group 1) transitioning from elementary to middle school to have plateaued in PA levels from the ages 10 to 14 years old and then to have increased their PA level from ages 14 to 16. The difference in results among the three groups may be attributed to Group 1s small sample size (n = 27), and consisting of predominately males with lower mean BMI and maturity levels (Pate, Schenkelberg, et al., 2019). However, the data still suggests a deeper investigation into the effect of organizational structures should occur. Further investigation can in turn improve interventions and ensure youth receive the recommended amount of PA as they progress into adulthood (Barnett et al., 2006).

SUMMARY

In summary, regular participation in PA is a modifiable health behavior for the management and prevention of numerous chronic diseases and other health related issues in adulthood (Miles, 2007; Warburton et al., 2006). PA has also been shown to positively benefit youth physiologically, psychologically, cognitively, and academically (Álvarez-Bueno et al., 2017; Janssen & LeBlanc, 2010; Lubans et al., 2016). However, children and adolescents are insufficiently active (Institute of Medicine et al., 2013; Janssen & LeBlanc, 2010; National Physical Activity Plan Alliance, 2018). PA levels in youth tend to decrease as grade level increases which is a rising concern since research has shown PA patterns established in adolescence tend to follow youth into adulthood (Allison et al., 2007; Institute of Medicine et al., 2013; Nader et al., 2008; Telama, 2009; Telama et al., 2005; Wickel et al., 2009). It is important to keep in mind that the years between 6 and 14 mark a time of important developmental milestones (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2021b; J. S. Eccles, 1999) where youth are progressing through maturation

and puberty (J. S. Eccles, 1999; Sisk & Foster, 2004). This is a time characterized by social, behavioral, psychological, and physiological changes (Holder & Blaustein, 2014; Sherar et al., 2010) that have been shown to be related to the decline in youth PA depending upon the individual's timing of maturation and puberty (Sherar et al., 2010). Since the transition into adolescence typically begins when youth are moving from elementary school to middle school (Anzilotti, 2022; Goldstein et al., 2015), focusing on ways to implement PA initiatives and increase PA opportunities within schools are imperative (World Health Organization, 2008).

The decline in PA as youth get older is consistent across research (Allison & Adlaf, 2000; Barnett et al., 2006; Brooke et al., 2016; Corder et al., 2019; Gidlow et al., 2008; Harding et al., 2015; Institute of Medicine et al., 2013; Lau et al., 2017; Pate, Dowda, et al., 2019; Pate, Saunders, et al., 2022; Pate, Schenkelberg, et al., 2019; Rutten et al., 2014), but data on the impact of differences in organizational structures between elementary and middle school models of education on youth PA levels remains inconsistent (Allison & Adlaf, 2000; Barnett et al., 2006; Brooke et al., 2016; Gidlow et al., 2008; Harding et al., 2015; Institute of Medicine et al., 2003; Lau et al., 2017; Pate, Schenkelberg, et al., 2019; Rutten et al., 2014). Providing this gap in literature and the need for adolescence to create positive PA patterns before progressing into adulthood, we aim to (1) describe the differences in organizational structures pertaining to PA between elementary and middle school models of education across four rural, Midwestern communities, and (2) describe the differences in 5th and 6th grade students' PA and organized activity participation by the organizational structures of the two school models.

CHAPTER III

Methods

This cross-sectional case study was a sub-study of the Wellscapes Project, a staggered-start community randomized trial that was implemented in two waves (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT03380143). The Wellscapes Project is an ongoing social epidemiology study of four Midwestern, rural communities designed to assess the impact of a multi-level community system intervention on youth physical activity and community change (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT03380143). Some participating schools in the communities followed an elementary school model (i.e., 5th and 6th grade in elementary school) whereas others followed a middle school model (i.e., 5th grade in elementary school and 6th grade in middle school). The specific aims for this crosssectional case study are to (1) describe the differences in organizational structures pertaining to PA between elementary and middle school models of education across four rural, Midwestern communities, and (2) describe the differences in 5th and 6th grade students' PA and organized activity participation by the organizational structures of the two school models. The protocol for all study activities (IRB #439-18-EX and #446-18-EP) were approved by the Institutional Review Board at the University of Nebraska Medical Center.

SETTING

The present case study was derived from Wave 1 and Wave 2 baseline data (2018 and 2021, respectively) of the Wellscapes Project in which two rural communities represented by predominantly white children (Wave 1) and two rural communities represented by predominantly Hispanic/Latino children (Wave 2) were targeted for recruitment. Rurality was defined as an area which meets the National Center for Education Statistics' definition for rural setting based on population size and distance from the nearest urban area (Geverdt, 2015). The objective was to characterize a rural community based on its social structure that encompassed both in-school and out-ofschool locations where young people live, engage in leisure activities, and learn. Therefore, it was imperative that the remote location of each community was far enough away from major urban areas so that children and youth did not travel outside of town for activities (Kellstedt et al., 2021). Inclusion criteria of communities included the following: located in a rural micropolitan area (> 10 miles from an urbanized area), population size large enough to have a public school district containing one high school (> 10 miles from an urbanized area), provided after school programs and youth club and sport opportunities, adult leaders were present in-school, after-school, and at clubs, and 3rd through 6th grade students were available to participate. For information on the classifications of population and distance, reference Kellstedt et al. (2021).

PARTICIPANTS

This case study focused on the 5th and 6th grade baseline population PA and corresponding questionnaire data of Wave 1 (2018) and Wave 2 (2021). There were 198 fifth graders and 170 sixth graders (n = 368 total) enrolled in public school within the four communities at the time of the study. Data from 59 fifth graders and 49 sixth graders from community one, 63 fifth graders and 51 sixth graders from community two, 28 fifth graders and 34 sixth graders from community three, and 39 fifth graders and 28 sixth graders from community 4 will be used in analyses (n = 189 fifth graders; n = 162 sixth graders; n = 351 total). Students self-reported grade, gender, participation in organized

activities, sedentary behavior, and physical activity data via the YAP questionnaire (Kellstedt et al., 2021; Schenkelberg et al., 2021; Von Seggern et al., 2022). Under a Data Sharing Agreement with the research team, PA data was linked with demographic characteristics without needing active consent (Schenkelberg et al., 2021). Schools provided population enrollment data including grade, gender, free-and-reduced lunch status, and race/ethnicity (Schenkelberg et al., 2021). Active consent was needed to link the free and reduced lunch status (FRLS) variable to physical activity data.

Additionally, differences in organizational structures between the school systems were analyzed using baseline questionnaire data of Wave 1 (2018) and Wave 2 (2021) and administrator self-reported data on number of sessions and length of PE and recess. Two of the four communities followed an "elementary school model" where 5th and 6th grade students (n = 175; Community 1, n = 108; Community 4, n = 67) attended school at the same building and spent the majority of the day in a self-contained classroom learning all core subjects from the same teacher. In the other two communities, students (n = 176; Community 2, n = 114; Community 3, n = 62) followed a "middle school model". In this model, 5th graders attended a primary school and followed the "elementary school model" previously mentioned while 6th graders attended a middle school where they transitioned from classroom to classroom learning different subjects from different teachers. Sample sizes of 5th and 6th graders that complete the YAP by school model, community, and Wave can be seen in Table 1.

Table 1

Total Number of 5 th & 6 th Graders Who Completed the YAP					
	Elementary School Model		Middle School Model		
	Community 1 (Wave 1, 2018)*	Community 4 (Wave 2, 2022)*	Community 2 (Wave 1, 2018)*	Community 3 (Wave 2, 2022)*	Total by grade level
5 th Grade	59	39	63	28	189
6 th Grade	49	28	51	34	162
Total by community	108	67	114	62	351
Total by school model	175		176		

5th and 6th Graders Who Complete the YAP by School Model, Community, and Wave

* Wave 1 (2018) was predominately White children & youth and Wave 2 (2022) was predominately Hispanic/Latino children & youth

PROCEDURES

Physical Activity Surveillance System

The Youth Activity Profile (YAP) was utilized to collect data on and estimate physical activity. The YAP is an online, self-administered physical activity assessment tool designed to estimate in-school and at-home physical activity and sedentary behavior of children and adolescents over the last seven days (Saint-Maurice & Welk, 2015). This questionnaire consists of 15 items broken up into three sections (in-school, out-of-school, and sedentary behavior) (Saint-Maurice & Welk, 2015). Each section contains five questions all structured on a 5-point Likert scale and is designed to be scored independently, with a higher score representing a higher activity level or sedentary time (Saint-Maurice & Welk, 2015). Questions in the in-school section examine MVPA during six parts of the school day: transportation to school, transportation from school, physical education, lunch (Fall 2018), classroom activity breaks, and recess). Questions in the out-of-school section focus on activity before school, after school, during the evening, and on the weekends. Sedentary questions relate to time spent watching TV, using a cell phone, playing video games, using the computer, and overall sedentary time (Saint-Maurice & Welk, 2015). The instrument has demonstrated acceptable levels of test-retest reliability (Segura-Díaz et al., 2021) and validity (Fairclough et al., 2019; Saint-Maurice & Welk, 2015).

Children and youth in the Wellscapes study completed the online version of the YAP within the classroom setting using media carts or in the school's media center while supervised by a teacher. Students' self-reported behaviors and raw scores were used in calibration equations to estimate time spent (minutes per day) in MVPA and SB (Saint-Maurice & Welk, 2015). In this study, a set of supplemental questions from the National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) were added to the YAP in order to obtain organized activities participation in the last month and 12 months (U.S. Census Bureau, 2017). For the purposes of this study, baseline YAP data from participating 5th and 6th grade students from all communities were examined.

MEASURES

Demographics

Children and youth self-reported gender and grade level when completing the YAP. Demographic data (i.e., race/ethnicity, gender, grade, and free and reduced lunch status) was collected from participating schools under a Data Sharing Agreement established between the communities and the research team (Schenkelberg et al., 2021). Active consent was needed for the FRLS variable. Grade was classified as 5th or 6th grade, but only baseline data from Wave 1 and Wave 2 will be used in this study.

Moderate to Vigorous Physical Activity

The primary outcome variable of 5th and 6th grade students' MVPA during school was obtained from the YAP instrument. In this questionnaire, youth were asked to report the number of days (0, 1, 2, 3, or 4 to 5 days) they participated in at least 10 minutes of PA (www.youthactivityprofile.org). The questionnaire consists of five questions related to in-school PA participation, five questions related to out-of-school PA participation, and five questions related to sedentary behavior. This present study utilized the following questions pertaining to in-school PA participation (i.e., physical education, lunch, classroom activity breaks and recess) for data analysis of MVPA at school: (1) How many days each week do you have PE?, (2) How many recess periods do you have per day?, (3) During lunch break, how often were you moving around, walking, or playing?, (4) During physical education, how often were you running and moving as part of the planned games or activities?, (5) During recess, how often were you playing sports, walking, running, or playing active games? (6) During school, how often did you engage in classroom "activity breaks" that involve standing or moving around for 5 minutes or more as part of the normal class activities? (other than PE and recess). Then an algorithm that converts raw YAP scores into minutes of PA per day is used to estimate the accumulation of average PA per weekday (Iowa State University Department of Kinesiology, 2020; Saint-Maurice & Welk, 2015).

Organizational Structure

In this study, the organizational structures of people (i.e., elementary school model, self-contained – learning all subjects from one teacher in the same classroom; middle school model, departmentalization – learning different subjects from different teachers by moving between classrooms) and of time (i.e., organization of school day:

amount and length of PE and recess, and classroom activity breaks) will be analyzed. YAP questions from the in-school section will be utilized for this analysis. These questions are: (1) How many days each week do you have PE?, (2) How many recess periods do you have per day?, (3) During lunch break, how often were you moving around, walking or playing?, (4) During physical education, how often were you running and moving as part of the planned games or activities?, (5) During recess, how often were you playing sports, walking, running, or playing active games?, (6) During school, how often did you engage in classroom "activity breaks" that involve standing or moving around for 5 minutes or more as part of normal class activities? (other than PE and recess). Additional information on the number and length of recess sessions per day, and number and length of PE lessons per week provided via email from school administrators for each grade level will be used for analysis.

Organized Activities

Organized activity participation was determined using the NSCH survey questions added to the YAP which assessed students' participation in out-of-school activities (e.g., clubs, sports teams and lessons, daily after school programs, and other organized activities). This analysis included the following questions: (1) Did you participate in a daily after school program? (12 months), (2) Did you participate in a daily after school program? (1 month), (3) Did you participate in a sports team or take a sports lesson after school or on weekends? (12 months), (4) Did you participate in a sports team or take sports lessons after school or on weekends? (1 month), (5) Did you participate in any clubs or organizations (4-H, scouting) after school or on weekends? (12 months), (6) Did you participate in any club organizations (4-H, Scouting) after school or on weekends? (1 month), (7) Did you participate in any other organized activities or lessons, such as music, dance, language, or other arts? (12 months), (8) Did you participate in any other organized activities or lessons, such as music, dance, language, or other arts? (1 month), (9) How often do you normally go to organized activities (after school programs, clubs, sport teams), after school and on weekends? For the purposes of this case study, only the NSCH organized activities questions assessing participation in the previous month will be used for analysis.

DATA ANALYSES

Descriptive statistics will be used to summarize demographic characteristics of study participants (n = 351) by grade and sex. Data will be summarized by race/ethnicity and FRLS for the subsample who provided consent to link school and physical activity data. Minutes of MPVA per day will be calculated using calibration equations for the YAP. These daily estimates of MVPA at the community level will be derived by aggregating individual-level YAP data. For all analyses SAS (version 9.4) will be used. Descriptives of in-school YAP data questions between communities, administration reported data, and field notes will be compared in order to describe the differences in organizational structures (Aim 1) between the elementary and middle schools. T-tests will then be used to evaluate the difference between 5th and 6th grade PA levels when at the elementary school compared to middle school for each organizational structure analyzed (i.e., number of sessions and length of PE and recess, classroom activity breaks, and opportunities for PA before school, during the lunch period, and after school) (Aim 2). Additionally, chi-square will be run to evaluate questions pertaining to participation in organized activities (1 month) for each wave (Aim 2).

CHAPTER IV

Manuscript

Regular physical activity (PA) during school-aged years is important for children's health (Álvarez-Bueno et al., 2017; Janssen & LeBlanc, 2010; Lubans et al., 2016; U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2018). Recommended guidelines include daily participation in 60 minutes or more moderate to vigorous physical activity (MVPA) (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2018), as well as regular participation in recess, physical education (PE), and breaks from sedentary time in the classroom (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2018; Institute of Medicine et al., 2013; National Association for Sport and Physical Education, 2006, 2012). However, recent surveillance estimates less than a quarter of children and youth are meeting these guidelines (National Physical Activity Plan Alliance, 2018; U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2018). The inadequate number of young people meeting these guidelines is concerning since PA behaviors established in adolescence tend to track into adulthood which can therefore impact the health of the general population (Hayes et al., 2019; Telama, 2009; Telama et al., 2005).

The inadequate amount of PA among children and youth have been characterized by factors such as age, race/ethnicity, sex, and socioeconomic status (SES) (Braveman et al., 2011; Corder et al., 2019; Gordon-Larsen et al., 2006; Gortmaker et al., 2012; Stalsberg & Pedersen, 2010; Trost et al., 2002). Research has also noted disparities in PA based on geographical area (e.g., rural and urban) (Chillón et al., 2011; Flegal et al., 2010; Joens-Matre et al., 2008; Ludwig et al., 1999; Mokdad et al., 1999, 2001; Patterson et al., 2004; Schoenborn et al., 2002). However, existing research on PA levels of young people by geographical location is inconsistent (Davy et al., 2004; Felton et al., 2002; Hedley et al., 2004; Joens-Matre et al., 2008; McMurray et al., 1999, 2000; Paxton et al., 2004). In one Midwest study, rural youth aged 9 to 14 were less physically active than urban youth, as compared to a national sample (Paxton et al., 2004). Similarly, rural middle school youth (mean age in years, 12.20) were significantly less active (15.9 minutes/day) compared to urban middle school youth (19.2 minutes/day) (Moore et al., 2013). However, these results are contrary to the results of other studies (Felton et al., 2002; J. Liu et al., 2008; Springer et al., 2006).

One way to address these inconsistencies is through PA promotion (Institute of Medicine et al., 2013; World Health Organization, 2008). Schools tend to be recommended sites for PA promotion (Institute of Medicine et al., 2013; World Health Organization, 2008) because attendance is nearly universal (Nathan et al., 2018), young people spend a significant amount of time there (Fox, 2004; Institute of Medicine et al., 2013), and many communities view them as "central hubs" (Webster, 2022). PA tends to decline as grade level increases with a notable drop occurring during the transition from elementary to middle school (Allison & Adlaf, 2000; Corder et al., 2019; Nader et al., 2008; Wickel et al., 2009). According to Gordon-Larsen et al. (2006), environmental factors play a critical role in PA. Additionally, Cleveland (2016) argues that the way in which the school environment is structured can significantly impact what a student can accomplish during the day in terms of engagement, learning, and movement. Bronfenbrenner's Ecological Systems Theory also highlights the importance of observing children and youth in various environments to examine the interaction of the environment on human behavior (Bronfenbrenner, 1979, 2000). Additionally, Barker's notion of

behavior settings, which emphasizes the effect interconnected ecological units (e.g., schools, homes, and neighborhoods) limited by space and time can have on behavior patterns (Barker, 1963b, 1963a). Thus, it is important to understand the structural differences in environments between elementary school and middle school and how they impact the PA of young people (Barnett et al., 2006).

The way in which a school is structured can be described in terms of "organizational structures" which consist of the structure of place (i.e., types of school), the structure of people (i.e., students, teachers), and the structure of time (i.e., organization of school day) (Ellerbrock et al., 2018). PA opportunities resulting from these structures can standardize PA within school systems (Ellerbrock et al., 2018; Webster, 2022). According to the Comprehensive School Physical Activity Program (CSPAP) implementation of the following five components can increase PA opportunities: physical education (PE), PA during school, PA before and after school, staff involvement, and family and community engagement (Webster, 2022). These structures are crucial for child development, risk-taking opportunities, social skills development, academic performance, and overall health (Álvarez-Bueno et al., 2017; Janssen & LeBlanc, 2010; Lubans et al., 2016; Webster, 2022). PE, classroom breaks, recess, and opportunities for PA before and after school (e.g., active transport, clubs, intramural and interscholastic sports) are present within elementary schools and middle schools (Institute of Medicine et al., 2013; McKenzie & Kahan, 2008). However, the level at which each are present varies (Burgeson et al., 2001; Institute of Medicine et al., 2013; McKenzie & Kahan, 2008). Recess tends to be minimal or non-existent at the middle school level, while intermural and interscholastic sports tend to be more common (Burgeson et al., 2001; Institute of Medicine et al., 2013). Recent trends also reveal a decrease in active transportation to and from school from elementary to middle school (Institute of Medicine et al., 2013).

Despite the evidence suggesting the importance of PA within schools, there is a gap in our understanding of the impact the differences in organizational structures pertaining to PA in elementary schools and middle schools have on young peoples' PA levels (Barnett et al., 2006; Harding et al., 2015; Lau et al., 2017; Pate, Schenkelberg, et al., 2019; Webster, 2022). Providing this gap in literature and the need for adolescence to create positive PA patterns before progressing into adulthood, we aim to (1) describe the differences in organizational structures pertaining to PA between elementary and middle school models of education across four rural, Midwestern communities, and (2) describe the differences in 4th, 5th, and 6th grade students' PA and organized activity participation by the organizational structures of the two school models.

METHODS

Participants

The cross-sectional case study was derived from Wave 1 and Wave 2 baseline data (2018 and 2021, respectively) of the Wellscapes Project, a staggered-start community randomized trial across four rural, Midwestern communities (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT03380143), in which two communities represented by predominantly white children (Wave 1) and two rural communities represented by predominantly Hispanic/Latino children (Wave 2) were targeted for recruitment. Rurality was defined as an area which meets the National Center for Education Statistics' definition for rural setting based on population size and distance from the nearest urban area (Geverdt, 2015). Inclusion criteria of communities included the following: located in a rural micropolitan area (> 10 miles from an urbanized area), population size large enough to have a public school district containing one high school (> 10 miles from an urbanized area), provided after school programs and youth club and sport opportunities, adult leaders were present in-school, after-school, and at clubs, and 3rd through 6th grade students were available to participate. For information on the classifications of population and distance, reference Kellstedt et al. (2021). Students self-reported grade and gender (Kellstedt et al., 2021; Schenkelberg et al., 2021; Von Seggern et al., 2022). Demographic data (i.e., race/ethnicity, gender, grade, and free and reduced lunch status, "FRLS") was collected from participating schools under a Data Sharing Agreement established between the communities and the research team (Schenkelberg et al., 2021). Active consent was needed to link the FRLS variable with physical activity data. Grade was classified as 3rd, 4th, 5th, or 6th grade, but only baseline data from Wave 1 (2018) and Wave 2 (2021) for 4th through 6th graders were used in the present case study.

In total, there were 173 fourth graders, 198 fifth graders, and 170 sixth graders (n = 541 total) enrolled in public school within the four communities at baseline. Out of the 541 fourth, fifth, and sixth graders enrolled, 507 completed the study activities and were used in the analyses (n = 156 fourth graders; n = 189 fifth graders; n = 162 sixth graders) (see Table 1). Two of the four communities followed an "elementary school model" where 4th, 5th, and 6th grade students (n = 259; Community 1, n = 165; Community 4, n = 94) attended school at the same building and spent the majority of the day in a self-contained classroom learning all core subjects from the same teacher. In the other two communities, students (n = 248; Community 2, n = 160; Community 3, n = 88) followed a "middle school model". In this model, 4th and 5th graders attended a primary school and

followed the "elementary school model" previously mentioned while 6th graders attended a middle school where they transitioned from classroom to classroom learning different subjects from different teachers. The protocol for all study activities (IRB #439-18-EX and #446-18-EP) was approved by the Institutional Review Board at the University of Nebraska Medical Center.

Instrumentation

Physical activity.

The Youth Activity Profile (YAP) was utilized to estimate PA. The YAP is an online, self-administered PA assessment tool designed to estimate in-school and at-home PA and sedentary behavior of children and adolescents over the last seven days (Saint-Maurice & Welk, 2015). This questionnaire consists of 15 items broken up into three sections (in-school, out-of-school, and sedentary behavior) (Saint-Maurice & Welk, 2015). Each section contains five questions all structured on a 5-point Likert scale and is designed to be scored independently (Saint-Maurice & Welk, 2015). Questions in the inschool section examine MVPA during six parts of the school day: transportation to school, transportation from school, PE, classroom activity breaks, and recess. Questions in the out-of-school section focus on PA before school, after school, during the evening, and on the weekends. Sedentary questions relate to time spent watching TV, using a cell phone, playing video games, using the computer, and overall sedentary time (Saint-Maurice & Welk, 2015). The instrument has demonstrated acceptable levels of test-retest reliability (Segura-Díaz et al., 2021) and validity (Fairclough et al., 2019; Saint-Maurice & Welk, 2015). For the purposes of this study, the following YAP questions from the inschool section were analyzed for in-school PA outcomes: (Y1) How many days did you

walk or bike to school? (Y2) During physical education, how often were you running and moving as part of the planned games or activities?, (Y3) During recess, how often were you playing sports, walking, running, or playing active games?, (Y4) During school, how often did you engage in classroom "activity breaks" that involve standing or moving around for 5 minutes or more as part of normal class activities? (other than PE and recess), and (Y5) How many days did you walk or bike from school? The YAP questions pertaining to PE and recess followed the same Likert scale format (i.e., 0 = I didn't have PE (or recess), 1 = Almost none of the time, <math>2 = A little bit, 3 = A moderate amount, 4 =A lot, 5 = Almost all of the time) while the Likert scale pertaining to active transportation(walking or biking) to and from school (i.e., <math>1 = 0 days, never, 2 = 1 day, 3 = 2 days, 4 =3 days, 5 = 4-5 days, almost every day) and classroom activity breaks (i.e., 1 = Less than once per week, 2 = 1-2 times per week, 3 = 3-4 times per week, 4 = 5 timers per week (every day), 5 = More than once per day) was different.

School organizational structure.

In this study, the organizational structure of time (i.e., organization of the school day: session amount and duration of PE and recess, and classroom activity breaks) was analyzed in relation to school model (i.e., elementary school model, self-contained – learning all subjects from one teacher in the same classroom; middle school model, departmentalization – learning different subjects from different teachers by moving between classrooms). Data were obtained through school administrators who provided the number of sessions and duration of PE and recess per week for each grade level. Raw scores from the YAP item related to classroom activity breaks were also included. Students self-reported engagement in 5-minutes or more of activity break movement

during class using a 5-point Likert scale (i.e., 1 = Less than once per week, 2 = 1-2 times per week, 3 = 3-4 times per week, 4 = 5 timers per week (every day), 5 = More than once per day).

Organized Activity Participation.

A set of supplemental questions from the National Survey of Children's Health (NSCH) were added to the YAP in order to obtain self-reported organized activities participation (e.g., clubs, sports teams and lessons, daily after school programs, and other organized activities) in the last month and 12 months (U.S. Census Bureau, 2017). For the purposes of this study, only the NSCH organized activities questions assessing organized activity participation in the previous month were used for analyses. These questions were: (PreY4) Did you participate in a daily after school program? (1 month), (PreY6) Did you participate in a sports team or take sports lessons after school or on weekends? (1 month), (PreY8) Did you participate in any clubs or organizations (4-H, Scouting) after school or on weekends? (1 month), and (PreY10) Did you participate in any other organized activities or lessons, such as music, dance, language, or other arts? (1month). Answer options for these questions were either yes or no.

Procedure

The primary outcome variable of 4th, 5th, and 6th grade students' self-reported inschool MVPA was obtained from the online version of the YAP instrument. Youth reported how often they participated in PA during PE, recess, and classroom activity breaks in the last week using a Likert scale. The YAP was completed within the classroom setting using media carts or in the school's media center while supervised by a teacher. Raw scores from students' self-reported behaviors were used in calibration equations to estimate time spent (minutes per day) in MVPA in school (Saint-Maurice & Welk, 2015). Additionally, students self-reported participation in organized activities after school or on the weekends including after-school programs, sports, clubs or organizations (i.e., 4-H, Scouting), and other activities or lessons (i.e., music, dance, language, or other arts) in the last month.

Organizational structure of PE and recess was collected from school administrators. School administrators reported the number of sessions and duration of PE and recess per week for each grade level to the research team. Additionally, participating children self-reported the frequency of classroom activity breaks outside of PE and recess. This item was attained from the YAP.

Data Analyses

Data were analyzed using SAS version 9.4. Demographic characteristics (i.e., grade, gender, race/ethnicity) across the four communities were summarized using descriptive analyses (i.e., counts, frequencies). In-school YAP items were aggregated to estimate in-school physical activity (mean minutes/day during school) using calibrated algorithms (Welk et al., 2021). Administrator-reported PE and recess sessions and session duration for each community and grade were summarized by community and grade.

The main effect of community (1, 2, 3, 4) and grade (4th, 5th, 6th) and the interaction between community and grade on the PA outcome (i.e., in-school minutes of MVPA) was analyzed using the GLIMMIX procedure. Gender and race/ethnicity were included as covariates in the model. The same analysis was used to analyze the dichotomous participation outcome (i.e., "yes", "no") for each organized activity variable

(i.e., after-school programs, sports, clubs and organizations, other activities or lessons). Alpha level was set as $p \le 0.05$ for all of the planned hypotheses tests.

RESULTS

Demographic Characteristics and School Structure

Among the 4th, 5th, and 6th graders, 51.08% (n = 259) attended a school that followed an elementary school model of education (Community 1 and 4) whereas 48.92% (n = 248) attended a school that followed a middle school model of education (Community 2 and 3). Communities 1 and 2 had a higher percentage of non-Hispanic white participants (Community 1, 93.3%; Community 2, 95.6%) while communities 3 and 4 had a higher percentage of participants classified as 'other' (Community 3, 82.9%; Community 4, 54.3%) due to planned recruitment of communities with higher concentrations of Hispanic/Latino children during Wave 2. Communities 3 and 4 had a higher percentage of students with FRLS compared to Communities 1 and 2. Reference Table 1 for complete community demographic characteristics.

According to administrator-reported data, students attending an elementary school model of education received the same number of sessions and length of recess each week, regardless of grade level (Community 1: 10 sessions, 20 min each; Community 4: 5 sessions, 20 min each). Students attending a middle school model of education received the same number of sessions and length of recess each week in 4th and 5th grade (Community 2: 5 sessions, 25 min each; Community 3: 5 sessions, 15 min each), but zero sessions in 6th grade. Variations in PE were observed in both communities following a middle school model of education. Community 2 reported 3, 30-minute sessions and 2, 35-minute sessions of PE for 4th and 5th graders each week, respectively, whereas 6th

graders received 5, 47-minute sessions each week. In community 3, both 4th and 5th grade students received 2.5, 30-minute PE sessions each week, whereas 6th graders received 3, 47-minute sessions each week. The elementary model schools both provided the same number of sessions and duration of session each week, regardless of grade (Community 1: 2.5 sessions, 25 min each; Community 4: 2.5 sessions, 30 min each).

In addition to PE and recess, raw scores for the YAP item pertaining to classroom activity breaks revealed 5th grade students in communities 2, 3, and 4 had a higher frequency of self-reporting participation in classroom activity breaks compared to 4th graders on the Likert scale (Community 2: 4th = 2.83, 5th = 3.29; Community 3: 4th = 2.50, 5th = 2.79; Community 4: 4th = 1.85, 5th = 2.41), whereas 6th graders had a lower frequency of reporting participation in activity breaks compared to 5th grade on the Likert scale across all communities (Community 1: 5th = 3.07, 6th = 2.55; Community 2: 5th = 3.29, 6th = 2.98; Community 3: 5th = 2.79, 6th = 2.53; Community 4: 5th = 2.41, 6th = 2.39). Significance was not tested.

Physical Activity

There was a significant fixed effect of community on in-school MVPA [F(3,493)=124.59, p<0.0001]. There was not a statistically significant interaction effect of community*grade on in-school MVPA [F(6,493)=1.04, p<0.3977]. However, planned comparisons of MVPA by community and grade were established a priori. Thus, post hoc analyses comparing MVPA by community and grade were performed.

Elementary school model communities: communities 1 and 4.

Communities 1 and 4 followed the elementary school model in which 4th through 6th graders attend the same elementary school, and each student receives academic

instruction from the same teacher, in the same classroom throughout the school day. Children in Community 1 reported higher levels of in-school MVPA compared to children across the other three communities, regardless of grade (p < 0.0001). There were no statistical differences in in-school MVPA among 4th, 5th, and 6th graders within Community 1. Children in Community 4 were statistically less active (p < 0.0001) compared with children in Community 1. Children in Community 4 demonstrated significantly more in-school MVPA compared with children in Community 3, regardless of grade (p < 0.0001). There were no statistical differences between children in Community 4 compared with Community 2, nor were there statistical differences in inschool MVPA within grade levels in Community 4. Refer to Figure 1 for mean estimates of in-school MVPA by community and grade level.

Middle school model communities: communities 2 and 3.

Communities 2 and 3 followed the middle school model in which 4th and 5th graders adhered to the elementary school model mentioned above, while 6th graders received specialized instruction on different subjects by different teachers through rotating from classroom to classroom at a middle school. There were no statistical differences in in-school MVPA participation among 4th, 5th, and 6th graders within Community 2 and 3. Children in Community 2 were statistically more active (p < 0.0001) compared with children in Community 3. Children in Community 3 reported lower levels of in-school MVPA compared to children across the other three communities, regardless of grade (p < 0.0001). Refer to Figure 1 for mean estimates of in-school MVPA by community and grade level.

Participation in Organized Activities

Among all participating students, 20.91% participated in an after-school program, 52.27% participated in a sport, 22.88% participated in a club or organization (e.g., 4-H, Scouting), and 40.83% participated in another organized activities such as dance, music, language, or art. However, participation rates varied by community and grade. The highest proportion of after-school program participation was among 5th graders in Community 1 (50.85%) whereas the lowest proportion of participation was among 5th graders in Community 2 (3.17%). The proportion of students participating in sports within Communities 2, 3, and 4 was not consistent (Community 2: $4^{th} = 65.22\%$, $5^{th} =$ 61.90%, 6th = 58.82%; Community 3: 4th = 42.31%, 5th = 25.00%, 6th = 20.59%; Community 4: $4^{th} = 48.15\%$, $5^{th} = 41.03\%$, $6^{th} = 53.57\%$). There was lack of consistency between communities as well. Fourth grade students in Community 2 had the highest proportion of sports participation (65.22%) whereas 6th graders in Community 3 had the lowest proportion (20.59%). Additionally, a higher proportion of students within Communities 2, 3, and 4 reported participating in a club in 6th grade compared to 5th grade (Community 2: 5th = 19.05%, 6th = 23.53%; Community 3: 5th = 7.14%, 6th = 11.76%; Community 4: $5^{\text{th}} = 10.26\%$, $6^{\text{th}} = 21.43\%$). However, between all communities, 5th and 6th grade students in Community 1 had the highest proportion of club or organized activity participation (44.07% and 40.82%). Furthermore, the proportion of other organized activities participation varied within Communities 2, 3, and 4. Participation ranged from 47.05% - 61.90% in Community 2, 19.23% - 25.00% in Community 3, and 18.52% - 35.71% in Community 4. Within Communities 2 and 3, a smaller proportion of students reported participating in other organized activities in 6th grade compared to 5th grade as well (Community 2: 5th = 61.90%, 6th = 47.05%; Community 3: 5th = 25.00%,

 $6^{\text{th}} = 23.53\%$). Detailed descriptives regarding participation in organized activities in the past month are reported in Table 2 by education model, community, and grade.

There were significant fixed effects of community on participation in after school programs [F(3,493)=5.99, p<0.0005], sports [F(3,493)=2.77, p<0.0409], clubs [F(3,493)=2.57, p<0.0537], and other activities [F(3,493)=6.45, p<0.0003]. There was a significant interaction effect of community*grade on participation in after school programs [F(6,493)=4.77, p<0.0001]. For all other organized activities there was no significant interaction effect: sports [F(6,493)=0.71, p<0.6391], clubs [F(6,493)=1.81, p<0.0956], other organized activities [F(6,493)=0.84, p<0.5394].

Elementary school model communities: communities 1 and 4.

Within Community 1, compared to 4th graders, 5th and 6th graders were each significantly more likely to participate in an after-school program (5th: Odds ratio [OR] = 4.99, 95% CI = 2.12-11.74; 6th: OR = 2.82, 95% CI = 1.15-6.95). Within Community 4, there were no statistical differences in participation in an after-school program for 4th, 5th, and 6th graders. Similarly, within Community 1 and 4, there were no statistical differences in participation in a sport for all grade levels. Within Community 1, when compared to 4th graders, 5th and 6th graders were each significantly more likely to participate in a club or organization (5th: OR = 3.39, 95% CI = 1.46-7.88; 6th: OR = 3.11, 95% CI = 1.29-7.50). However, within Community 4, there were no statistical differences in participation in a sport for 4th, 5th, and 6th graders. Similarly, within Community 1 and 4, there were no statistical differences in participation in other organized activities (i.e., music, dance, language, art) for all grade levels.

Students in Community 1, grade 5 were significantly more likely to participate in an after-school program compared to 5th graders in Communities 2, 3, and 4 whereas students in grade 4 and 6 had no statistical differences in after-school program participation compared to 4th and 6th graders in Communities 2, 3, and 4 (Table 3). However, 6th grade participation in after-school programs in Community 1 compared to 6th grade participation in Community 3 was approaching statistical significance (Table 3). Sixth grade students in Community 1 were significantly more likely to participate in a sport compared to 6th grade students in Community 3 while 4th and 5th grade students' participation in sports was not statistically different from 4th and 5th grade students in Communities 2, 3, and 4 (Table 3). Students in Community 1, grade 5 were significantly more likely to participate in a club or organization compared to 5th graders in Communities 2, 3, and 4 whereas students in grade 4 and 6 had no statistical differences in club or organization participation compared to 4th and 6th graders in Communities 2, 3, and 4 (Table 3). Fifth grade students in Community 1 were significantly more likely to participate in other organized activities compared to 5th grade students in Community 2 and 4 while 4th and 6th grade students' participation in other organized activities was not statistically different from 4th and 6th grade students in Communities 2, 3, and 4 (Table 3).

Middle school model communities: communities 2 and 3.

Within Community 2, compared to 5th graders, 4th and 6th graders were significantly more likely to participate in an after-school program (4th: Odds ratio [OR] = 0.09, 95% CI = 0.02-0.44; 6th: OR = 0.11, 95% CI = 0.02-0.50). Within Community 3, there were no statistical differences in participation in an after-school program for 4th, 5th, and 6th graders. Similarly, within Community 2 and 3, there were no statistical differences among grade levels for participation in a sport, club or organization, and other organized activities.

Fifth grade students in Community 2 and 3 were significantly less likely to participate in an after-school program than 5th grade students in Community 1 (Table 3), There was no statistical difference in after-school program participation for both 4th and 6th grade students compared to 4th and 6th grade students in all communities. Additionally, there was no statistical difference between 5th grade students' participation in after-school programs compared to 5th grade students in Community 3 and 4 (Table 3). Students in 5th and 6th grade in Community 2 were significantly more likely to participate in a sport compared to 5th and 6th grade students in Community 3 while no significant difference in sports participation was found between 4th grade students in Community 2 and all other communities. Sixth grade students in Community 3 were significantly less likely to participate in a sport compared to 6th grade students in Community 1, but significantly more likely than 6th graders in Community 4. Similarly, 5th grade students in Community 3 were significantly less likely to participate in a sport compared to 5th graders in Community 1 and 2. Participation in sports for 4th graders in Community 3 was not statistically different from 4th grade students in Communities 1, 2, 3, and 4 (Table 3). Students in 4th and 6th grade in Community 2 and 3 had no statistical difference in club or organization participation between 4th and 6th grader students in community 1, 2, 3, and 4 whereas 5th grade students only had no statistical difference in club or organization participation between 5th graders in Community 2, 3, and 4 (Table 3). Fourth and 5th grade students in Community 2 were significantly more likely to participate in other organized activities compared to 4th and 5th grade students in Community 3 and 4 while

6th grade students' participation in other organized activities was not statistically different from 6th grade students in Communities 1, 3, and 4. However, 6th grade participation in other organized activities in Community 2 compared to 6th grade participation in Community 3 was approaching significantly different (Table 3).

DISCUSSION

There is a lack of research on the influence of organizational structures (i.e., recess, PE, classroom breaks, and lunch period) and organized activities (i.e., after-school programs, sports, clubs, and other out-of-school activities) on children and youth PA depending upon school model attended (elementary school model vs. middle school model). In the present study, differences in organizational structures were observed between communities and within communities. In-school PA outcomes and participation in organized activities outside of school varied by community as well.

Sixth grade students attending a school following a middle school model did not receive any recess whereas all grade levels in schools following an elementary school model received the same number of sessions and length of recess, which is similar to findings in other studies (Barnett et al., 2006; Institute of Medicine et al., 2013; *SHPPS: Results from the School Health Policies and Practices Study*, 2016). The Institute of Medicine et al. (2013) notes that requirements for PA outside of PE decrease outside of elementary school with middle schools and high schools typically not providing recess, while recess is deemed necessary at the elementary level and thus scheduled into the day (Barnett et al., 2006; *SHPPS: Results from the School Health Policies and Practices and Practices Study*, 2016). Since 6th graders attending an elementary school model received recess

while 6th graders in a middle school model did not, recess can be considered an organizational structure that differs between the two school models.

On the other hand, duration of PE sessions increased from 5th to 6th grade for students in a middle school model while the duration of PE sessions stayed the same for students in an elementary model. A consistent session amount and length of PE seems to differ between grade levels in other studies (Allison & Adlaf, 2000; Barnett et al., 2006; Fairclough & Stratton, 2006; Kolbe et al., 2001; McKenzie et al., 2000; Tompkins et al., 2004). Not only does this organizational structure seem to differ between school models, but between grade levels as well.

Additionally, across grade level regardless of school model, 6th graders reported participating in fewer classroom breaks involving PA which is consistent with current research (Institute of Medicine et al., 2013; *SHPPS: Results from the School Health Policies and Practices Study*, 2016). The recent SHPPS (2016) and the Institute of Medicine et al., (2013) found a higher percentage of lower grade levels implement classroom breaks compared to upper grade levels. The lower percentage of participation in 6th grade may be due to higher academic demands and greater emphasis placed on testing and academics as students get older (Howie et al., 2014; Institute of Medicine et al., 2013). One study examining barriers to implementing classroom breaks found that teachers reported difficulty facilitating breaks at an upper level due to academic pressures (Campbell & Lassiter, 2020).

According to PA outcomes, students attending schools in an elementary school model participated in more in-school MVPA each day compared to students attending a school in a middle school model. This is consistent with current research which notes the

decrease in amount and intensity of PA as young people transition from elementary to middle school (Lau et al., 2017; Pate, Saunders, et al., 2022; Pate, Schenkelberg, et al., 2019). However, in contrast to current research which reveals a decrease in PA as grade level increases (Allison et al., 2007; Corder et al., 2019; Institute of Medicine et al., 2013; Nader et al., 2008; Wickel et al., 2009), each consecutive grade level in an elementary model school had higher levels of PA. On the contrary, each consecutive grade level in a middle school model either had lower levels of PA than the previous grade or students had higher levels of PA in 5th grade compared to 4th grade, but lower levels of PA in 6th grade compared to 5th grade. This suggests that the addition of daily recess, and implementation of classroom PA breaks may have a greater impact on in-school PA outcomes than PE alone. These patterns emphasize the potential impact the differing organizational structures (i.e., recess, PE, and classroom breaks) may have on PA outcomes and should be examined further. Additionally, since PA outcomes during PE within each community were variable between grade level, other factors such as policies, teaching style, and student engagement and behavioral challenges may impact PA as well (Hills et al., 2015; Jenkinson & Benson, 2010; Kolbe et al., 2001; Morgan & Hansen, 2008). Further investigation into these factors should be conducted.

Another way for students to obtain PA during the day is through out-of-school organized activities (i.e., after-school programs, sports, clubs, and other activities). Despite research suggesting access to and availability of organized activities may be limited in rural communities (Ferris et al., 2013; Findlay et al., 2009), our study shows participation in all organized activities within each community. However, organized activity participation by community and grade varied. In Community 1, an elementary

model school, 5th and 6th graders were more likely to participate in both after-school programs and clubs compared to 4th graders. This contradicts current studies which have found participation in out-of-school opportunities to decline as children increase in age (Eccles & Gootman, 2002; Mahoney et al., 2005; Shann, 2001). However, the likelihood of participation in after-school programs in Community 2, a middle school model, was less likely for 5th graders compared to 4th and 6th graders. In all other communities, participation in after-school programs and clubs was not significantly different by grade. Further investigation should examine structures, policies, and activities in place at the different school models that would cause participation differences. Similarly, participation in both sports and other activities was not significantly different by grade in each community. This differs from current findings as well (Leek et al., 2011; Powersm et al., 2002). Leek et al. (2011) found a significant drop of 80 percent participation in youth sports as children reached the age of 12. Additionally, Powersm et al. (2002) observed that even though 24% of middle schools offered extra-curricular activities outside of school hours, participation was incredibly low. However, Communities 3 and 4 which consisted of predominately Hispanic children and youth had lower proportions of student participation in all organized activities. This is consistent with research which highlights reduced PA both in-school and out-of-school for Hispanic youth compared to non-Hispanic youth (Gordon-Larsen et al., 2002; Hasson, 2018; Rodriguez et al., 2011; Stovitz et al., 2007). Among the organized activities offered, participation in after-school programs and clubs seemed to differ the most between grade levels in several communities. Examination of these activities at each school model should be investigated more in depth to determine why participation at certain grade levels is significantly different.

While we believe this study highlights patterns present between grade levels in communities following different school models, it is not without limitations. First, the sample size consisted of only four communities, with only one school district within each community. In addition, there were only two school districts total following each school model (elementary vs. middle). Therefore, future research should be conducted with larger sample sizes to see if organizational structures described between school models, and PA and organized activity patterns are consistent. There are also limitations to the self-report measure of PA and organized activity participation. While objective measures provide more precise estimates of PA, the YAP yields group-level estimates of in-school and out-of-school values within 23% and 21% of the SenseWear Armband Pro 3 PA monitor values (Welk et al., 2021). Future research should however consider tracking PA outcomes in-school and out-of-school using accelerometers in conjunction with the YAP to gain more objective data on which organizational structures students are participating in more PA.

CONCLUSIONS

Currently, research notes a decline in PA both in-school and out-of-school as children increase in age, specifically during the transition from elementary school to middle school (Allison et al., 2007; Corder et al., 2019; J. Eccles & Gootman, 2002; Harding et al., 2015; Institute of Medicine et al., 2013; Lau et al., 2017; Mahoney et al., 2005; Nader et al., 2008; Shann, 2001; Wickel et al., 2009). However, research on the specific organizational structures present in elementary school models of education and middle school models of education that are impacting PA outcomes of children and youth is limited (Gidlow et al., 2008; Lau et al., 2017; Pate, Schenkelberg, et al., 2019). This study not only contributes to the existing literature on PA participation and outcomes as children age into adolescence, but it also highlights patterns between communities and grade levels. It also describes differences in organizational structures (i.e., PE, recess, classroom activity breaks, and out-of-school organized activities) between elementary schools and middle schools that may be impacting PA outcomes. Gaining a better understanding of which organizational structures have the greatest impact on young people's PA, can drive future PA initiatives and policies within schools and school districts.
Figures/Tables

	Element M	ary School odel ^a	Middle Sc			
	W1 C1 (<i>N</i> , %)	W2 C4 (N, %)	W1 C2 (N, %)	W2 C3 (N, %)	- Total (N, %)	
Community Total (N)	165	94	160	88	507	
Grade 4	57, 34.55	27, 28.72	46, 28.75	26, 29.55	156, 30.77	
5	59, 35.76	39, 41.49	63, 39.38	28, 31.82	189, 37.28	
6	49, 29.69	28, 29.79	51, 31.87	34, 38.63	162, 31.95	
Gender Male	83, 50.30	49, 52.13	86, 53.75	35, 39.77	253, 49.90	
Female	82, 49.70	45, 47.87	74, 46.25	53, 60.23	254, 50.10	
Race/Ethnicity Non-Hispanic White	154, 93.33	43, 45.74	153, 95.63	15, 17.05	365, 71.99	
Other	11, 6.67	51, 54.26	7, 4.37	73, 82.95	142, 28.01	
FRLS Free/Reduced	19, 11.52	40, 42.55	42, 26.25	41, 46.59	142, 28.01	
Full Pay	88, 53.33	33, 35.11	76, 47.50	35, 39.77	232, 45.76	
Missing/Unknown ^c	58, 35.15	21, 22.34	42, 26.25	12, 13.64	133, 26.23	

Table 1. Demographic Characteristics for Community YAP Responses

Abbreviations: YAP, Youth Activity Profile; FRLS, Free and Reduced Lunch Status; W1 C1, Wave 1 (2018) Community 1; W1

C2, Wave 1 (2018) Community 2; W2 C3, Wave 2 (2022) Community 3; W2 C4, Wave 2 (2022) Community 4

^a 4th, 5th, and 6th attend school at an elementary school, receiving all subjects from one teacher

^b 4th, and 5th attend school at an elementary school, receiving all subjects from one teacher; 6th grade attends a middle school, receiving different subjects from different teacher by moving between classrooms

^c FRLS missing or unknown due to lack of consent for lunch status to be linked to data, or not provided

	Elementary School Model ^a						Middle School Model ^b						
	W1 C1			W2 C4		W1 C2			W2 C3				
	Grade in School			Grade in School			Grade in School			Grade in School			
	4	5	6	4	5	6	4	5	6	4	5	6	
NSCH Question	(N, %)	(N, %)	(N, %)	(N, %)	(N, %)	(N, %)	(N, %)	(N, %)	(N, %)	(N, %)	(N, %)	(N, %)	
Daily ASP Participation	10, 17.54	30, 50.85	18, 36.73	2, 7.41	2, 5.13	7, 25.00	12, 26.09	2, 3.17	12, 23.53	5, 19.23	3, 10.71	3, 8.82	
Sport Participation	33, 57.89	35, 59.32	29, 59.18	13, 48.15	16, 41.03	15, 53.57	30, 65.22	39, 61.90	30, 58.82	11, 42.31	7, 25.00	7, 20.59	
Club or Organization Participation	11, 19.30	26, 44.07	20, 40.82	5, 18.52	4, 10.26	6, 21.43	13, 28.26	12, 19.05	12, 23.53	1, 3.85	2, 7.14	4, 11.76	
Other Organized Activity Participation ^c	25, 43.86	26, 44.07	22, 44.90	5, 18.52	8, 20.51	10, 35.71	28, 60.87	39, 61.90	24, 47.06	5, 19.23	7, 25.00	8, 23.53	

Table 2. Participation in Organized Activities Out-of-School in the Last Month by Education Model, Community, and Grade

Abbreviations: W1 C1, Wave 1 (2018) Community 1; W1 C2, Wave 1 (2018) Community 2; W2 C3, Wave 2 (2022) Community 3; W2 C4, Wave 2 (2022) Community 4; NSCH, National Survey of Children's Health; ASP, After-School Program

^a 4th, 5th, and 6th attend school at an elementary school, receiving all subjects from one teacher

^b 4th, and 5th attend school at an elementary school, receiving all subjects from one teacher; 6th grade attends a middle school, receiving different subjects from different teacher by moving between classrooms

^c Other organized activities include dance, music, language, and art activities



Figure 1. Mean daily minutes of in-school moderate to vigorous physical activity (MVPA) by grade level, community, and education model.

^a Community 1 had significantly higher in-school minutes of MVPA per day compared to Communities 2, 3, and 4, regardless of grade (p<0.0001). There were no significant differences in in-school MVPA within Community 1.

^b Community 4 had significantly higher in-school minutes of MVPA per day compared to Community 3, regardless of grade (p<0.0001). There were no significant differences in in-school MVPA between Community 2 and within Community 4.

^c Community 2 had significantly higher in-school minutes of MVPA per day compared to Community 3, regardless of grade (p<0.0001). There were no significant differences in in-school MVPA within Community 2.

d Community 3 had significantly lower in-school minutes of MVPA per day compared to Communities 1, 2, and 4, regardless of grade (*p*<0.0001). There were no significant differences in in-school MVPA within Community 3.

	After-School Program		Sports			Clubs or Organizations			Other Activities ^a			
	Odds Ratio	95% Confidence Interval	P-Value	Odds Ratio	95% Confidence Interval	P-Value	Odds Ratio	95% Confidence Interval	P-Value	Odds Ratio	95% Confidence Interval	P-Value
4 th Grade					_							
C1 vs. C2* C1 vs. C3* C1 vs. C4* C2 vs. C3* C2 vs. C4* C3 vs. C4*	0.60 0.59 1.93 0.98 3.24 3.29	$\begin{array}{c} (0.23,1.55)\\ (0.16,2.21)\\ (0.37,10.11)\\ (0.26,3.67)\\ (0.62,16.83)\\ (0.57,19.06) \end{array}$	0.2876 0.4304 0.4344 0.9814 0.1615 0.1833	0.72 1.30 1.12 1.81 1.56 0.86	$\begin{array}{c} (0.32, 1.60) \\ (0.46, 3.68) \\ (0.41, 3.01) \\ (0.61, 5.39) \\ (0.55, 4.42) \\ (0.29, 2.57) \end{array}$	0.4147 0.6205 0.8292 0.2798 0.4020 0.7841	0.64 2.95 0.58 4.61 0.91 0.20	$\begin{array}{c} (0.25,1.62) \\ (0.34,25.99) \\ (0.17,2.06) \\ (0.53,40.49) \\ (0.26,3.20) \\ (0.02,1.87) \end{array}$	0.3441 0.3290 0.4015 0.1674 0.8853 0.1574	0.55 2.90 2.97 5.26 5.39 1.03	$\begin{array}{c} (0.25,1.24) \\ (0.85,9.84) \\ (0.91,9.67) \\ (1.50,18.46) \\ (1.60,18.17) \\ (0.25,4.17) \end{array}$	0.1488 0.0880 0.0709 0.0097 0.0068 0.9729
5 th Grade												
C1 vs. C2* C1 vs. C3* C1 vs. C4* C2 vs. C3* C2 vs. C4* C3 vs. C4*	32.54 5.77 16.29 0.18 0.50 2.83	$\begin{array}{c} (7.23,146.4) \\ (1.40,23.71) \\ (3.52,75.36) \\ (0.03,1.24) \\ (0.07,3.78) \\ (0.42,18.90) \end{array}$	<0.0001 0.0153 0.0004 0.0805 0.5018 0.2831	0.93 3.09 1.81 3.33 1.95 0.59	$\begin{array}{c} (0.45, 1.93) \\ (1.04, 9.13) \\ (0.77, 4.25) \\ (1.12, 9.84) \\ (0.83, 4.56) \\ (0.20, 1.76) \end{array}$	0.8415 0.0419 0.1710 0.0301 0.1215 0.3411	3.33 5.17 5.08 1.56 1.53 0.98	(1.46,7.56) $(1.02,26.21)$ $(1.56,16.57)$ $(0.29,8.25)$ $(0.44,5.27)$ $(0.16,6.09)$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0042\\ 0.0471\\ 0.0071\\ 0.6031\\ 0.5014\\ 0.9845\end{array}$	0.43 2.08 2.71 4.83 6.29 1.30	$\begin{array}{c} (0.20, 0.90) \\ (0.68, 6.36) \\ (1.02, 7.16) \\ (1.57, 14.87) \\ (2.38, 16.67) \\ (0.39, 4.34) \end{array}$	0.0261 0.1996 0.0451 0.0061 0.0002 0.6665
6 th Grade												
C1 vs. C2* C1 vs. C3* C1 vs. C4* C2 vs. C3* C2 vs. C4* C3 vs. C4*	1.96 3.97 1.36 2.03 0.70 0.343	$\begin{array}{c} (0.82, 4.70) \\ (0.95, 16.68) \\ (0.46, 4.07) \\ (0.46, 8.91) \\ (0.22, 2.18) \\ (0.08, 1.52) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.1328 \\ 0.0594 \\ 0.5764 \\ 0.3469 \\ 0.5349 \\ 0.1588 \end{array}$	1.06 3.90 1.01 3.69 0.95 0.26	$\begin{array}{c} (0.47,2.36) \\ (1.31,11.6) \\ (0.38,2.69) \\ (1.23,11.0) \\ (0.36,2.54) \\ (0.08,0.80) \end{array}$	0.8902 0.0145 0.9885 0.0196 0.9217 0.0192	2.27 2.58 1.66 1.13 0.73 0.64	$\begin{array}{c} (0.95,5.44) \\ (0.69,9.66) \\ (0.54,5.13) \\ (0.29,4.46) \\ (0.26,2.37) \\ (0.15,2.69) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.0652 \\ 0.1605 \\ 0.3800 \\ 0.8579 \\ 0.5983 \\ 0.5446 \end{array}$	0.85 2.46 1.33 2.89 1.56 0.54	$\begin{array}{c} (0.38,191)\\ (0.82,7.38)\\ (0.48,3.68)\\ (0.96,8.73)\\ (0.56,4.32)\\ (0.17,1.69) \end{array}$	0.6942 0.1081 0.5889 0.0594 0.3944 0.2878

Table 3. Likelihood of Participating in Organized Activity by Community and Grade

Abbreviations: C1, Community 1; C2, Community 2; C3, Community 3; C4, Community 4

^a Other activities include music, dance, language, and art * The reference group for each paired comparison

References

- A Guide to the US Education Levels. (2022, June 10). USAHello. https://usahello.org/education/children/grade-levels/#gref
- Allison, K. R., & Adlaf, E. M. (2000). Structured Opportunities for Student Physical Activity in Ontario Elementary and Secondary Schools. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, 91(5), 371–375. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03404810
- Allison, K. R., Adlaf, E. M., Dwyer, J. J. M., Lysy, D. C., & Irving, H. M. (2007). The Decline in Physical Activity Among Adolescent Students. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, 98(2), 97–100. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03404317
- Álvarez-Bueno, C., Pesce, C., Cavero-Redondo, I., Sánchez-López, M., Martínez-Hortelano, J. A., & Martínez-Vizcaíno, V. (2017). The Effect of Physical Activity Interventions on Children's Cognition and Metacognition: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 56(9), 729–738. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2017.06.012
- Anzilotti, A. W. (2022, May). Understanding Puberty (for Parents) KidsHealth. KidsHealth. https://kidshealth.org/en/parents/understandingpuberty.html#:~:text=When%20Does%20Puberty%20Start%3F,trigger%20the%20 start%20of%20puberty.
- Arowosafe, D. S., & Irvin, J. L. (1992). Transition to a Middle Level School: What Kids Say. *Middle School Journal*, 24(2), 15–19. https://doi.org/10.1080/00940771.1992.11495162
- Barker, R. G. (1963a). KURT LEWIN MEMORIAL AWARD ADDRESS-1963. Journal of Social Issues, 19(4), 17–38. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-4560.1963.tb00456.x
- Barker, R. G. (1963b). The stream of behavior: Explorations of its structure & amp; content. ((Ed.)). Appleton-Century-Crofts. https://doi.org/10.1037/11177-000
- Barnett, T. A., O'Loughlin, J., Gauvin, L., Paradis, G., & Hanley, J. (2006).
 Opportunities for Student Physical Activity in Elementary Schools: A Cross-Sectional Survey of Frequency and Correlates. *Health Education & Behavior*, 33(2), 215–232. https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198105277855
- Beighle, A., & Moore, M. (2012). Physical Activity Before and After School. Journal of Physical Education, Recreation & Dance, 83(6), 25–28. https://doi.org/10.1080/07303084.2012.10598792
- Blackwell, J. (2004). Recess: forgotten, neglected, crossed off, or hidden. *Childhood Education*, 80(5), 268.
- Blair, S. N., Kohl, H. W., Gordon, N. F., & Paffenbarger, R. S. (1992). How Much Physical Activity is Good for Health? *Annual Review of Public Health*, 13(1), 99– 126. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.pu.13.050192.000531
- Braveman, P. A., Kumanyika, S., Fielding, J., LaVeist, T., Borrell, L. N., Manderscheid, R., & Troutman, A. (2011). Health Disparities and Health Equity: The Issue Is

Justice. *American Journal of Public Health*, *101*(S1), S149–S155. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2010.300062

- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). *The ecology of human development*. Harvard University Press.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (2000). Ecological systems theory. In A. E. Kazdin (ed.). In *Encyclopedia of Psychology, Vol. 3.* (pp. 129–133). American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/10518-046
- Brooke, H. L., Atkin, A. J., Corder, K., Ekelund, U., & van Sluijs, E. M. F. (2016).
 Changes in time-segment specific physical activity between ages 10 and 14 years:
 A longitudinal observational study. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, 19(1), 29–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsams.2014.10.003
- Burgeson, C. R., Wechsler, H., Brener, N. D., Young, J. C., & Spain, C. G. (2001). Physical Education and Activity: Results from the School Health Policies and Programs Study 2000. *Journal of School Health*, 71(7), 279–293. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1746-1561.2001.tb03505.x
- Button, B., Trites, S., & Janssen, I. (2013). Relations between the school physical environment and school social capital with student physical activity levels. *BMC Public Health*, *13*(1), 1191. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-13-1191
- Calfas, K. J., & Taylor, W. C. (1994). Effects of Physical Activity on Psychological Variables in Adolescents. *Pediatric Exercise Science*, 6(4), 406–423. https://doi.org/10.1123/pes.6.4.406
- Campbell, A. L., & Lassiter, J. W. (2020). Teacher perceptions of facilitators and barriers to implementing classroom physical activity breaks. *The Journal of Educational Research*, *113*(2), 108–119. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220671.2020.1752613
- Caspersen, C. J., Powell, K. E., & Christenson, G. M. (1985). Physical Activity, Exercise, and Physical Fitness: Definitions and Distinctions for Health-Related Research. *Public Health Reports (1974)*, *100*(2), 126–131.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (1997). Guidelines for School and Community Programs to Promote Lifelong Physical Activity Among Young People. MMWR, 46(RR-6). Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (1997). Guidelines for School and Community Programs to Promote Lifelong Physical Activity Among Young People. MMWR, 46(RR-6).
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2018). *Strategies for Classroom Physical Activity in Schools*. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, US Department of Health and Human Services.

https://www.cdc.gov/healthyschools/physicalactivity/pdf/classroompastrategies_50 8.pdf

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021a, May 7). *School Health Policies and Practices Study (SHPPS)*. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth/data/shpps/index.html
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021b, September 23). *Child Development Basics*. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/childdevelopment/facts.html
- Chillón, P., Ortega, F. B., Ferrando, J. A., & Casajus, J. A. (2011). Physical fitness in rural and urban children and adolescents from Spain. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, 14(5), 417–423. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsams.2011.04.004
- Cleveland, B. (2016). Addressing the Spatial To Catalyse Socio-Pedagogical Reform in Middle Years Education. In *The Translational Design of Schools* (pp. 27–49). SensePublishers. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-6300-364-3_2
- Corder, K., Winpenny, E., Love, R., Brown, H. E., White, M., & Sluijs, E. van. (2019). Change in physical activity from adolescence to early adulthood: a systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal cohort studies. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 53(8), 496–503. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2016-097330
- Cumming, S. P., Standage, M., Gillison, F. B., Dompier, T. P., & Malina, R. M. (2009). Biological maturity status, body size, and exercise behaviour in British youth: A pilot study. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 27(7), 677–686. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640410902725590
- Davison, K. K., Werder, J. L., Trost, S. G., Baker, B. L., & Birch, L. L. (2007). Why are early maturing girls less active? Links between pubertal development, psychological well-being, and physical activity among girls at ages 11 and 13. *Social Science & Medicine*, 64(12), 2391–2404. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2007.02.033
- Davy, B. M., Harrell, K., Stewart, J., & King, D. S. (2004). Body Weight Status, Dietary Habits, and Physical Activity Levels of Middle School-aged Children in Rural Mississippi. Southern Medical Journal, 97(6), 571–577. https://doi.org/10.1097/00007611-200406000-00012
- Dinkel, D., Schaffer, C., Snyder, K., & Lee, J. M. (2017). They just need to move: Teachers' perception of classroom physical activity breaks. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 63, 186–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2016.12.020
- Eccles, J., & Gootman, J. A. (2002). Community Programs to Promote Youth Development (3rd ed., Vol. 17). National Academies Press.
- Eccles, J. S. (1999). The Development of Children Ages 6 to 14. *The Future of Children*, 9(2), 30. https://doi.org/10.2307/1602703
- Efrat, M. (2009). Relationship between Peer and/or Friends' Influence and Physical Activity among Elementary School Children. *Californian Journal of Health Promotion*, 7(SI), 48–61. https://doi.org/10.32398/cjhp.v7iSI.2000

- Ellerbrock, C., Main, K., Falbe, K., & Pomykal Franz, D. (2018). An Examination of Middle School Organizational Structures in the United States and Australia. *Education Sciences*, 8(4), 168. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci8040168
- Fairclough, S. J., Christian, D. L., Saint-Maurice, P. F., Hibbing, P. R., Noonan, R. J., Welk, G. J., Dixon, P. M., & Boddy, L. M. (2019). Calibration and Validation of the Youth Activity Profile as a Physical Activity and Sedentary Behaviour Surveillance Tool for English Youth. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16(19), 3711. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16193711
- Fairclough, S. J., & Stratton, G. (2006). A Review of Physical Activity Levels during Elementary School Physical Education. *Journal of Teaching in Physical Education*, 25(2), 240–258. https://doi.org/10.1123/jtpe.25.2.240
- Felton, G. M., Dowda, M., Ward, D. S., Dishman, R. K., Trost, S. G., Saunders, R., & Pate, R. R. (2002). Differences in Physical Activity Between Black and White Girls Living in Rural and Urban Areas. *Journal of School Health*, 72(6), 250–255. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1746-1561.2002.tb07338.x
- Ferris, K. A., Oosterhoff, B., & Metzger, A. (2013). Organized Activity Involvement Among Rural Youth: Gender Differences in Associations Between Activity Type and Developmental Outcomes. *Journal of Research in Rural Education*, 28(15), 1– 16.
- Findlay, L. C., Garner, R. E., & Kohen, D. E. (2009). Children's Organized Physical Activity Patterns From Childhood into Adolescence. *Journal of Physical Activity* and Health, 6(6), 708–715. https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah.6.6.708
- Flegal, K. M., Carroll, M. D., Ogden, C. L., & Curtin, L. R. (2010). Prevalence and Trends in Obesity Among US Adults, 1999-2008. *JAMA*, 303(3), 235. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2009.2014
- Fox, K. R. (2004). Childhood obesity and the role of physical activity. *Journal of the Royal Society for the Promotion of Health*, 124(1), 34–39. https://doi.org/10.1177/146642400312400111

Geverdt, D. E. (2015). Education Demographic and Geographic Estimates Program (EDGE): Locale Boundaries User's Manual. U.S. Department of Education.
Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics. https://nces.ed.gov/programs/edge/docs/NCES_LOCALE_USERSMANUAL_2016 012.pdf

- Gichu, M., Asiki, G., Juma, P., Kibachio, J., Kyobutungi, C., & Ogola, E. (2018).
 Prevalence and predictors of physical inactivity levels among Kenyan adults (18–69 years): an analysis of STEPS survey 2015. *BMC Public Health*, 18(S3), 1217. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-018-6059-4
- Gidlow, C. J., Cochrane, T., Davey, R., & Smith, H. (2008). In-school and out-of-school physical activity in primary and secondary school children. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, 26(13), 1411–1419. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640410802277445

- Goldstein, S. E., Boxer, P., & Rudolph, E. (2015). Middle School Transition Stress: Links with Academic Performance, Motivation, and School Experiences. *Contemporary School Psychology*, 19(1), 21–29. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40688-014-0044-4
- Gordon-Larsen, P., Adair, L. S., & Popkin, B. M. (2002). Ethnic Differences in Physical Activity and Inactivity Patterns and Overweight Status. *Obesity Research*, 10(3), 141–149. https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2002.23
- Gordon-Larsen, P., Nelson, M. C., Page, P., & Popkin, B. M. (2006). Inequality in the Built Environment Underlies Key Health Disparities in Physical Activity and Obesity. *Pediatrics*, 117(2), 417–424. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2005-0058
- Gortmaker, S. L., Lee, R., Cradock, A. L., Sobol, A. M., Duncan, D. T., & Wang, Y. C. (2012). Disparities in Youth Physical Activity in the United States. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 44(5), 888–893. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.0b013e31823fb254
- Hamalainen, A. E. (1958). Some Current Proposals and Their Meaning. Feb. *Educational Leadership*, *16*, 271.
- Harding, S. K., Page, A. S., Falconer, C., & Cooper, A. R. (2015). Longitudinal changes in sedentary time and physical activity during adolescence. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 12(1), 44. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-015-0204-6
- Hasson, R. E. (2018). Addressing Disparities in Physical Activity Participation Among African American and Latino Youth. *Kinesiology Review*, 7(2), 163–172. https://doi.org/10.1123/kr.2018-0015
- Hayes, G., Dowd, K. P., MacDonncha, C., & Donnelly, A. E. (2019). Tracking of Physical Activity and Sedentary Behavior From Adolescence to Young Adulthood: A Systematic Literature Review. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 65(4), 446–454. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2019.03.013
- Hedley, A. A., Ogden, C. L., Johnson, C. L., Carroll, M. D., Curtin, L. R., & Flegal, K. M. (2004). Prevalence of Overweight and Obesity Among US Children, Adolescents, and Adults, 1999-2002. *JAMA*, 291(23), 2847. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.291.23.2847
- Hills, A. P., Dengel, D. R., & Lubans, D. R. (2015). Supporting Public Health Priorities: Recommendations for Physical Education and Physical Activity Promotion in Schools. *Progress in Cardiovascular Diseases*, 57(4), 368–374. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcad.2014.09.010
- Hills, A. P., King, N. A., & Armstrong, T. P. (2007). The Contribution of Physical Activity and Sedentary Behaviours to the Growth and Development of Children and Adolescents. *Sports Medicine*, 37(6), 533–545. https://doi.org/10.2165/00007256-200737060-00006

- Holder, M. K., & Blaustein, J. D. (2014). Puberty and adolescence as a time of vulnerability to stressors that alter neurobehavioral processes. *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology*, 35(1), 89–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yfrne.2013.10.004
- Howie, E. K., Beets, M. W., & Pate, R. R. (2014). Acute classroom exercise breaks improve on-task behavior in 4th and 5th grade students: A dose–response. *Mental Health and Physical Activity*, 7(2), 65–71.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ml.ng.2014.05.002

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mhpa.2014.05.002

- Institute of Medicine, Food and Nutrition Board, & Committee on Physical Activity and Physical Education in the School Environment. (2013). *Educating the Student Body: Taking Physical Activity and Physical Education to School* (H. W. Kohl & H. D. Cook, Eds.). National Academies Press.
- Iowa State University Department of Kinesiology. (2020). *Welcome to the Youth Activity Profile*. https://www.youthactivityprofile.org/
- Janssen, I., & LeBlanc, A. G. (2010). Systematic review of the health benefits of physical activity and fitness in school-aged children and youth. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 7(1), 40. https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-5868-7-40
- Jarrett, O. S., & Duckett-Hedgebeth, M. (2003). Recess in Middle School: What do the Students do? In: Lytle DE, ed. Play and Educational Theory and Practice. (Vol. 5). Praeger.
- Jenkinson, K. A., & Benson, A. (2010). Barriers to Providing Physical Education and Physical Activity in Victorian State Secondary Schools. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 35(8). https://doi.org/10.14221/ajte.2010v35n8.1
- Joens-Matre, R. R., Welk, G. J., Calabro, M. A., Russell, D. W., Nicklay, E., & Hensley, L. D. (2008). Rural–Urban Differences in Physical Activity, Physical Fitness, and Overweight Prevalence of Children. *The Journal of Rural Health*, 24(1), 49–54. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-0361.2008.00136.x
- Kellstedt, D. K., Schenkelberg, M. A., Essay, A. M., Welk, G. J., Rosenkranz, R. R., Idoate, R., Ramos, A. K., Grimm, B., & Dzewaltowski, D. A. (2021). Rural community systems: Youth physical activity promotion through community collaboration. *Preventive Medicine Reports*, 23, 101486. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmedr.2021.101486
- Kirby, J., Levin, K. A., & Inchley, J. (2013). Socio-environmental influences on physical activity among young people: a qualitative study. *Health Education Research*, 28(6), 954–969. https://doi.org/10.1093/her/cyt085
- Kohl, H. W., Craig, C. L., Lambert, E. V., Inoue, S., Alkandari, J. R., Leetongin, G., & Kahlmeier, S. (2012). The pandemic of physical inactivity: global action for public health. *The Lancet*, 380(9838), 294–305. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60898-8

- Kolbe, L. J., Kann, L., & Brener, N. D. (2001). Overview and Summary of Findings: School Health Policies and Programs Study 2000. *Journal of School Health*, 71(7), 253–259. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1746-1561.2001.tb03502.x
- Lau, E. Y., Dowda, M., McIver, K. L., & Pate, R. R. (2017). Changes in Physical Activity in the School, Afterschool, and Evening Periods During the Transition From Elementary to Middle School. *Journal of School Health*, 87(7), 531–537. https://doi.org/10.1111/josh.12523
- Leek, D., Carlson, J. A., Cain, K. L., Henrichon, S., Rosenberg, D., Patrick, K., & Sallis, J. F. (2011). Physical Activity During Youth Sports Practices. Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine, 165(4). https://doi.org/10.1001/archpediatrics.2010.252
- Liu, J., Bennett, K. J., Harun, N., & Probst, J. C. (2008). Urban-Rural Differences in Overweight Status and Physical Inactivity Among US Children Aged 10-17 Years. *The Journal of Rural Health*, 24(4), 407–415. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-0361.2008.00188.x
- Liu, Y., Simpkins, S. D., & Vandell, D. L. (2021). Developmental pathways linking the quality and intensity of organized afterschool activities in middle school to academic performance in high school. *Journal of Adolescence*, 92, 152–164. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2021.09.002
- Lobdell, L. O., & van Ness, W. J. (1963). The Self-Contained Classroom in the Elementary School. *The Elementary School Journal*, *63*(4), 212–217. https://doi.org/10.1086/460039
- Lubans, D., Richards, J., Hillman, C., Faulkner, G., Beauchamp, M., Nilsson, M., Kelly, P., Smith, J., Raine, L., & Biddle, S. (2016). Physical Activity for Cognitive and Mental Health in Youth: A Systematic Review of Mechanisms. *Pediatrics*, 138(3). https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2016-1642
- Ludwig, D. S., Pereira, M. A., Kroenke, C. H., Hilner, J. E., Van Horn, L., Slattery, M. L., & Jacobs, D. R. (1999). Dietary Fiber, Weight Gain, and Cardiovascular Disease Risk Factors in Young Adults. *JAMA*, 282(16), 1539. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.282.16.1539
- Lutfiyya, M. N., Lipsky, M. S., Wisdom-Behounek, J., & Inpanbutr-Martinkus, M. (2007). Is Rural Residency a Risk Factor for Overweight and Obesity for U.S. Children?*. *Obesity*, 15(9), 2348–2356. https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2007.278
- Lynch, M., & Cicchetti, D. (1997). Children's relationships with adults and peers: An examination of elementary and junior high school students. *Journal of School Psychology*, 35(1), 81–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-4405(96)00031-3
- Mahoney, J. L., Larson, R. W., & Eccles, J. S. (2005). Organized Activities as Contexts of Development: Extracurricular Activities, After-School, and Community Programs. Psychology Press.

- Malina, R. M., Bouchard, C., & Bar-Or, O. (2004). *Growth, Maturation and Physical Activity* (2nd ed.). Human Kinetics. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physio.2005.03.001
- McKenzie, T. L., & Kahan, D. (2008). Physical Activity, Public Health, and Elementary Schools. *The Elementary School Journal*, 108(3), 171–180. https://doi.org/10.1086/529100
- McKenzie, T. L., Marshall, S. J., Sallis, J. F., & Conway, T. L. (2000). Student Activity Levels, Lesson Context, and Teacher Behavior during Middle School Physical Education. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*, 71(3), 249–259. https://doi.org/10.1080/02701367.2000.10608905
- McMullen, J., Kulinna, P., & Cothran, D. (2014). Chapter 5 Physical Activity Opportunities During the School Day: Classroom Teachers' Perceptions of Using Activity Breaks in the Classroom. *Journal of Teaching in Physical Education*, 33(4), 511–527. https://doi.org/10.1123/jtpe.2014-0062
- McMurray, R. G., Harrell, J. S., Bangdiwala, S. I., & Deng, S. (1999). Cardiovascular Disease Risk Factors and Obesity of Rural and Urban Elementary School Children. *The Journal of Rural Health*, 15(4), 365–374. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-0361.1999.tb00760.x
- McMurray, R. G., Harrell, J. S., Deng, S., Bradley, C. B., Cox, L. M., & Bangdiwala, S. I. (2000). The Influence of Physical Activity, Socioeconomic Status, and Ethnicity on the Weight Status of Adolescents. *Obesity Research*, 8(2), 130–139. https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2000.14
- Miles, L. (2007). Physical activity and health. *Nutrition Bulletin*, *32*(4), 314–363. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-3010.2007.00668.x
- Mokdad, A. H., Bowman, B. A., Ford, E. S., Vinicor, F., Marks, J. S., & Koplan, J. P. (2001). The Continuing Epidemics of Obesity and Diabetes in the United States. *JAMA*, 286(10), 1195. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.286.10.1195
- Mokdad, A. H., Serdula, M. K., Dietz, W. H., Bowman, B. A., Marks, J. S., & Koplan, J. P. (1999). The Spread of the Obesity Epidemic in the United States, 1991-1998. *JAMA*, 282(16), 1519. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.282.16.1519
- Moore, J. B., Brinkley, J., Crawford, T. W., Evenson, K. R., & Brownson, R. C. (2013). Association of the built environment with physical activity and adiposity in rural and urban youth. *Preventive Medicine*, 56(2), 145–148. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2012.11.019
- Morgan, P. J., & Hansen, V. (2008). Classroom Teachers' Perceptions of the Impact of Barriers to Teaching Physical Education on the Quality of Physical Education Programs. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*, 79(4), 506–516. https://doi.org/10.1080/02701367.2008.10599517
- Nader, P. R., Bradley, R. H., Houts, R. M., McRitchie, S. L., & O'Brien, M. (2008). Moderate-to-Vigorous Physical Activity From Ages 9 to 15 Years. *JAMA*, 300(3), 295. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.300.3.295

- Nathan, N., Elton, B., Babic, M., McCarthy, N., Sutherland, R., Presseau, J., Seward, K., Hodder, R., Booth, D., Yoong, S. L., & Wolfenden, L. (2018). Barriers and facilitators to the implementation of physical activity policies in schools: A systematic review. *Preventive Medicine*, 107, 45–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2017.11.012
- National Association for Sport and Physical Education. (2006). *Shape of the Nation Report: Status of Physical Education in the USA.*
- National Association for Sport and Physical Education. (2012). Shape of the Nation Report - Status of Physical Education in the USA.

https://www.shapeamerica.org/advocacy/son/2012/upload/2012-Shape-of-Nation-full-report-web.pdf

- National Association for Sport and Physical Education. (2023). Play and Playground Encyclopedia. https://www.pgpedia.com/n/national-association-sport-and-physicaleducation
- National Library of Medicine. (n.d.-a). *Adolescent*. National Center for Biotechnology Information. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/mesh/68000293
- National Library of Medicine. (n.d.-b). *Child*. National Center for Biotechnology Information. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/mesh/68002648
- National Physical Activity Plan Alliance. (2018). *The 2018 United States Report Card on Physical Activity for Children and Youth*. National Physical Activity Plan. http://physicalactivityplan.org/projects/PA/2018/2018%20US%20Report%20Card %20Full%20Version_WEB.PDF?pdf=page-link.
- *Organization of U.S. Education: The School Level.* (2008, February). USNEI: U.S. Department of Education.

https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ous/international/usnei/us/edlite-org-us.html

- Pate, R. R., Dowda, M., Dishman, R. K., Colabianchi, N., Saunders, R. P., & McIver, K. L. (2019). Change in Children's Physical Activity: Predictors in the Transition From Elementary to Middle School. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 56(3), e65–e73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2018.10.012
- Pate, R. R., Dowda, M., Dishman, R. K., Gorab, J., Bucko, A., & Saunders, R. P. (2022). Longitudinal association of biological maturation with physical activity behaviors in girls transitioning from 5th to 7th grade. *American Journal of Human Biology*, 34(7). https://doi.org/10.1002/ajhb.23737
- Pate, R. R., Pratt, M., Blair, S. N., Haskell, W. L., Macera, C. A., Bouchard Claude, Buchner, D., Ettinger, W., Heath, G. W., King, A. C., Kriska, A., Leon, A. S., Marcus, B. H., Morris, J., Paffenbarger, R. S., Patrick, K., Pollock, M. L., Rippe, J. M., Sallis, J., & Wilmore, J. H. (1995). Physical Activity and Public Health. *JAMA*, 273(5), 402. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.1995.03520290054029
- Pate, R. R., Saunders, R. P., Taverno Ross, S. E., & Dowda, M. (2022). Patterns of agerelated change in physical activity during the transition from elementary to high

school. *Preventive Medicine Reports*, 26, 101712. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmedr.2022.101712

- Pate, R. R., Schenkelberg, M. A., Dowda, M., & McIver, K. L. (2019). Group-based physical activity trajectories in children transitioning from elementary to high school. *BMC Public Health*, 19(1), 323. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-019-6630-7
- Patterson, P. D., Moore, C. G., Probst, J. C., & Shinogle, J. A. (2004). Obesity and Physical Inactivity in Rural America. *The Journal of Rural Health*, 20(2), 151–159. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-0361.2004.tb00022.x
- Paxton, R. J., Estabrooks, P. A., & Dzewaltowski, D. (2004). Attraction to Physical Activity Mediates the Relationship between Perceived Competence and Physical Activity in Youth. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*, 75(1), 107–111. https://doi.org/10.1080/02701367.2004.10609139
- Pellegrini, A. D., & Smith, P. K. (1993). School Recess: Implications for Education and Development. *Review of Educational Research*, 63(1), 51–67. https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543063001051
- Pindus, D. M., Cumming, S. P., Sherar, L. B., Gammon, C., Coelho e Silva, M., & Malina, R. M. (2014). Maturity-Associated Variation in Physical Activity and Health-Related Quality of Life in British Adolescent Girls: Moderating Effects of Peer Acceptance. *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 21(5), 757–766. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12529-013-9344-8
- Powersm, H. S., Conway, T. L., McKenzie, T. L., Sallis, J. F., & Marshall, S. J. (2002). Participation in Extracurricular Physical Activity Programs at Middle Schools. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*, 73(2), 187–192. https://doi.org/10.1080/02701367.2002.10609007
- Pulling Kuhn, A., Kim, E., Lane, H. G., Wang, Y., Deitch, R., Turner, L., Hager, E. R., & Parker, E. A. (2021). Associations between elementary and middle school teachers' physical activity promoting practices and teacher- and school-level factors. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 18(1), 66. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-021-01129-4
- Rickwood, G. (2013). School Culture and Physical Activity: A systematic Review. *Canadian Journal of Education Administration and Policy*, 143, 1–51.
- Rodriguez, R., Weffer, S. E., Romo, J., Aleman, A., & Ortiz, R. M. (2011). Reduced Physical Activity Levels Associated with Obesity in Rural Hispanic Adolescent Females. *Childhood Obesity*, 7(3), 194–205. https://doi.org/10.1089/chi.2011.0007
- Ross, J. G., Pate, R. R., Corbin, C. B., Delpy, L. A., & Gold, R. S. (1987). What is Going on in the Elementary Physical Education Program? *Journal of Physical Education, Recreation & Dance*, 58(9), 78–84. https://doi.org/10.1080/07303084.1987.10604380
- Rutten, C., Boen, F., & Seghers, J. (2014). Changes in Physical Activity and Sedentary Behavior During the Transition From Elementary to Secondary School. *Journal of*

Physical Activity and Health, 11(8), 1607–1613. https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah.2012-0465

- Saint-Maurice, P. F., & Welk, G. J. (2015). Validity and Calibration of the Youth Activity Profile. *PLOS ONE*, *10*(12), e0143949. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0143949
- Schenkelberg, M. A., Essay, A. M., Rosen, M. S., Bavari, A. E., Norgelas, S. J., Rosenkranz, R. R., Welk, G. J., & Dzewaltowski, D. A. (2021). A protocol for coordinating rural community stakeholders to implement whole-of-community youth physical activity surveillance through school systems. *Preventive Medicine Reports*, 24, 101536. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmedr.2021.101536
- Schoenborn, C. A., Adams, P. F., & Barnes, P. M. (2002). Body weight status of adults: United States, 1997-98. *Advance Data*, 330, 1–15.
- Segura-Díaz, J. M., Barranco-Ruiz, Y., Saucedo-Araujo, R. G., Aranda-Balboa, M. J., Cadenas-Sanchez, C., Migueles, J. H., Saint-Maurice, P. F., Ortega, F. B., Welk, G. J., Herrador-Colmenero, M., Chillón, P., & Villa-González, E. (2021). Feasibility and reliability of the Spanish version of the Youth Activity Profile questionnaire (YAP-Spain) in children and adolescents. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, *39*(7), 801– 807. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640414.2020.1847488
- Seidman, E., Allen, L., Aber, J. L., Mitchell, C., & Feinman, J. (1994). The Impact of School Transitions in Early Adolescence on the Self-System and Perceived Social Context of Poor Urban Youth. *Child Development*, 65(2), 507–522. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.1994.tb00766.x
- Shann, M. H. (2001). Students' Use of Time Outside of School: A Case for After School Programs for Urban Middle School Youth. *The Urban Review*, 33(4), 339–356. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1012248414119
- Sherar, L. B., Cumming, S. P., Eisenmann, J. C., Baxter-Jones, A. D. G., & Malina, R. M. (2010). Adolescent Biological Maturity and Physical Activity: Biology Meets Behavior. *Pediatric Exercise Science*, 22(3), 332–349. https://doi.org/10.1123/pes.22.3.332
- Sherar, L. B., Esliger, D. W., Baxter-Jones, A. D. G., & Tremblay, M.S. (2007). Age and Gender Differences in Youth Physical Activity. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 39(5), 830–835. https://doi.org/10.1249/mss.0b013e3180335c3c
- Sherar, L. B., Gyurcsik, N. C., Humbert, M. L., Dyck, R. F., Fowler-Kerry, S., & Baxter-Jones, A. D. G. (2009). Activity and Barriers in Girls (8-16 yr) Based on Grade and Maturity Status. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 41(1), 87–95. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.0b013e31818457e6
- SHPPS: Results from the School Health Policies and practices Study. (2016). U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth/data/shpps/pdf/shpps-results_2016.pdf

- Simons-Morton, B. G., O'hara, N. M., Parcel, G. S., Huang, I. W., Baranowski, T., & Wilson, B. (1990). Children's Frequency of Participation in Moderate to Vigorous Physical Activities. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*, 61(4), 307–314. https://doi.org/10.1080/02701367.1990.10607492
- Sisk, C. L., & Foster, D. L. (2004). The neural basis of puberty and adolescence. *Nature Neuroscience*, 7(10), 1040–1047. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1326
- Springer, A. E., Hoelscher, D. M., & Kelder, S. H. (2006). Prevalence of Physical Activity and Sedentary Behaviors in US High School Students by Metropolitan Status and Geographic Region. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, 3(4), 365– 380. https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah.3.4.365
- Stalsberg, R., & Pedersen, A. V. (2010). Effects of socioeconomic status on the physical activity in adolescents: a systematic review of the evidence. *Scandinavian Journal* of Medicine & Science in Sports, 20(3), 368–383. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0838.2009.01047.x
- Stovitz, S. D., Steffen, L. M., & Boostrom, A. (2007). Participation in Physical Activity Among Normal- and Overweight Hispanic and Non-Hispanic White Adolescents. *Journal of School Health*, 78(1), 19–25. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1746-1561.2007.00261.x
- Telama, R. (2009). Tracking of Physical Activity from Childhood to Adulthood: A Review. Obesity Facts, 2(3), 187–195. https://doi.org/10.1159/000222244
- Telama, R., Yang, X., Viikari, J., Välimäki, I., Wanne, O., & Raitakari, O. (2005). Physical activity from childhood to adulthood. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 28(3), 267–273. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2004.12.003
- Tompkins, N. O., Zizzi, S., Zedosky, L., Wright, J., & Vitullo, E. (2004). School-based opportunities for physical activity in West Virginia public schools. *Preventive Medicine*, 39(4), 834–840. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2004.03.014
- Trost, S. G., Pate, R. R., Sallis, J. F., Freedson, P. S., Taylor, W. C., Dowda, M., & Sirard, J. (2002). Age and gender differences in objectively measured physical activity in youth. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 34(2), 350–355. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005768-200202000-00025
- Trost, S. G., Rosenkranz, R. R., & Dzewaltowski, D. (2008). Physical Activity Levels among Children Attending After-School Programs. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 40(4), 622–629. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.0b013e318161eaa5
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2017). *National Survey of Children's Health Questionnaire*. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Census Bureau. https://www.childhealthdata.org/learnabout-the-nsch/survey-instruments
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2018). *Physical Activity Guidelines for America 2nd Edition*.

https://health.gov/sites/default/files/201909/Physical_Activity_Guidelines_2nd_edit ion.pdf#page=46.

- Vandell, D. L., Larson, R. W., Mahoney, J. L., & Watts, T. W. (2015). Children's Organized Activities. In *Handbook of Child Psychology and Developmental Science* (pp. 1–40). John Wiley & Sons, Inc. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118963418.childpsy408
- Von Seggern, M. J., Schenkelberg, M. A., Essay, A. M., Kellstedt, D. K., High, R., Welk, G. J., Rosenkranz, R. R., & Dzewaltowski, D. A. (2022). The association between children's participation in out-of-school time organized activities and physical activity in rural communities: a cross-sectional study. *Research Square*. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-2140204/v1
- Warburton, D. E. R., Nicol, C. W., & Berdin, S. S. D. (2006). Health benefits of physical activity: the evidence. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 174(6), 801–809. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.051351
- Webster, C. A. (2022). The Comprehensive School Physical Activity Program: An Invited Review. American Journal of Lifestyle Medicine, 155982762210935. https://doi.org/10.1177/15598276221093543
- Wechsler, H., Devereaux, R. S., Davis, M., & Collins, J. (2000). Using the School Environment to Promote Physical Activity and Healthy Eating. *Preventive Medicine*, 31(2), S121–S137. https://doi.org/10.1006/pmed.2000.0649
- Welk, G. J., Saint-Maurice, P. F., Dixon, P. M., Hibbing, P. R., Bai, Y., McLoughlin, G. M., & Pereira da Silva, M. (2021). Calibration of the Online Youth Activity Profile Assessment for School-Based Applications. *Journal for the Measurement of Physical Behaviour*, 4(3), 236–246. https://doi.org/10.1123/jmpb.2020-0048
- Who are youth? (2022, June 21). Freechild Institute for Youth Engagement. https://freechild.org/2022/06/17/who-are-youth/
- Why do we separate school kids by age groups? (2018, June 28). Reaching Higher NH. https://reachinghighernh.org/2018/06/28/classrooms-learners-various-age-groups/
- Wickel, E. E., Eisenmann, J. C., & Welk, G. J. (2009). Maturity-Related Variation in Moderate-to-Vigorous Physical Activity Among 9–14 Year Olds. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, 6(5), 597–605. https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah.6.5.597
- Wilcox, S., Castro, C., King, A. C., Housemann, R., & Brownson, R. C. (2000). Determinants of leisure time physical activity in rural compared with urban older and ethnically diverse women in the United States. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, 54(9), 667–672. https://doi.org/10.1136/jech.54.9.667
- Wood, C. (2015). Yardsticks: Children in the Classroom, Ages 4-14 (3rd ed.).
- World Health Organization. (2008). School Policy Framework: Implementation of the Global Strategy on Diet, Physical Activity, and Health. World Health Organization. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/43923
- Wright, K., & Suro, Z. (2014). Using Community–Academic Partnerships and a Comprehensive School-Based Program to Decrease Health Disparities in Activity

in School-Aged Children. *Journal of Prevention & Intervention in the Community*, 42(2), 125–139. https://doi.org/10.1080/10852352.2014.881185